RAND

Evidence Based Care Models for Recognizing and Treating Alcohol Problems in Primary Care Settings

Katherine Watkins, Harold Alan Pincus, Terri L. Tanielian

> DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A Approved for Public Release Distribution Unlimited

> > 20020221 103

RAND Health

RAND

Evidence Based Care Models for Recognizing and Treating Alcohol Problems in Primary Care Settings

Katherine Watkins, Harold Alan Pincus, Terri L. Tanielian

Supported by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

RAND Health

MR-1491-SAMHSA

The research described in this report was supported by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. The research was conducted within RAND Health.

ISBN: 0-8330-3120-1

A profile of RAND Health, abstracts of it publications, and ordering information can be found on the RAND Health home page at www.rand.org/health.

RAND is a nonprofit institution that helps improve policy and decisionmaking through research and analysis. RAND[®] is a registered trademark. RAND's publications do not necessarily reflect the opinions or policies of its research sponsors.

© Copyright 2001 RAND

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form by any electronic or mechanical means (including photocopying, recording, or information storage and retrieval) without permission in writing from RAND.

Published 2001 by RAND 1700 Main Street, P.O. Box 2138, Santa Monica, CA 90407-2138 1200 South Hayes Street, Arlington, VA 22202-5050 201 North Craig Street, Suite 102, Pittsburgh, PA 15213 RAND URL: http://www.rand.org/ To order RAND documents or to obtain additional information, contact Distribution Services: Telephone: (310) 451-7002; Fax: (310) 451-6915; Email: order@rand.org

PREFACE

Alcohol-related problems are a significant public health concern in the United States. Effective treatments exist for the entire spectrum of alcohol related problems; however, fewer than half of those who need treatment actually receive it. This report discusses how a chronic disease management model can be adapted to improve the detection, treatment, and management of patients with alcohol related problems in primary care settings. The report was prepared to summarize and highlight the relevant literature and discuss issues for consideration in building and implementing a chronic care model for alcohol problems in primary care settings. The report provides only a framework. Further work is needed to develop and collect the necessary tools and resources to implement the model and to determine is feasibility and potential impact.

In addition, the report provides an overview of three suggested evaluation strategies and approaches to monitor and evaluate the implementation of a chronic care model for alcohol problems in primary care settings.

In preparing this report, the authors solicited specific advice and feedback from an expert panel via a listserv. Panel members included representatives from family medicine, internal medicine, psychiatry, and nursing. The panel also included perspectives from managed care clinical directors, alcohol specialists, public sector clinical administrators, and the research community. This report should be of interest to policy makers, primary care providers, clinical directors and administrators, alcohol specialists, and researchers.

The work presented in this report was performed under a subcontract to RAND from Harold Alan Pincus, M.D., for his contract from the Office of Managed Care, Center for Substance Abuse Treatment at the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. In performing this work, the authors were specifically asked to summarize relevant literature and outline a framework for a chronic care model for alcohol problems in primary care settings. SAMHSA also requested a summary of relevant screening instruments and for the authors to make recommendations with regard to which to use within primary care settings.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

v

PREFACE	iii
TABLE OF FIGURES	vii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
INTRODUCTION	1
1. BACKGROUND	3
Alcohol Use Problems: Definitions and Prevalence	3
Why Alcohol Use Disorders Are Similar to Other Chronic Conditions	4
2. THE CHRONIC CARE MODEL AND ALCOHOL PROBLEMS	
The Chronic Care Model	7
Practice/Delivery System Redesign	8
Collaborative Management	
Decision Support for Providers	9
Clinical Information Systems	
Adapting the CCM to Improve Care for Alcohol Problems	11
Guidelines	
Components of Evidenced-Based Planned Care	
Applying the Chronic Care Model to the Components of Care	
Barriers at the Health Care System Level	
Barriers at the Provider Level	
Barriers at the Patient Level	
Overcoming Barriers	25
4. EVALUATING THE CHRINIC CARE MODEL FOR TREATING ALCOHOL	
PROBLEMS IN PRIMARY CARE	
Phase I: Pilot Study	
Phase II: Effectiveness Study	
Phase III: Dissemination Study	
5. SUMMARY	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX	43

TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: The Model for Improving Chronic Illness Care	
Figure 3.1: Alcohol Problems in Primary Care Matrix ¹ Adapting the Chronic	
Care Model)
Figure A.1: Proposed/Potential "Red Flag" Conditions or Markers	
Figure A.2: Characteristics of Screening Instruments	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are pleased to acknowledge the contributions of many people from whom we received comments and feedback on specific section of this report. First, we would like to thank all the members of the expert panel listserv who responded to our routine requests for feedback. Members of the listserv included: John Allen, Tom Babor, Deborah Beck, Michael Brier, Richard Botelho, Richard Brown, Patricia Chandler, Joseph Conigliaro, Sam Cullison, Lynn Elinson, Hope Ewing, David Gastfriend, Adam Gordon, Michael Fleming, Patricia Harrison, John Hopper, Rodger Kessler, Peter Lee, Steve Levine, Melissa McNeil, Herbert Munci, David Oslin, Helen Pettinati, Anthony Radcliffe, Manney Reid, Jeff Samet, Wes Sowers, Connie Weisner, and Ed Wagner. We are indebted to them for helping to shape, strengthen and clarify the report.

We are also grateful to Bruce Rollman and Amy Kilburn for sharing information from their work on the RWJ National Program "Depression in Primary Care: Linking Clinical and System Strategies." Also, we thank Mary Vaiana, Director of Communications for RAND Health, for her wisdom and talent in refining the presentation of this report.

Finally, we acknowledge the on-going support and guidance of the CSAT Project Officers, Mady Chalk and Jacqueline Lloyd. In particular, we thank them for providing many resources and documents needed in preparing the report and for their comments and insight throughout its development.

INTRODUCTION

1

Alcohol-related problems are a significant public health concern in the United States. Alcohol dependence, abuse, and problem drinking increase morbidity and mortality (McGinnis, 1993), and raise economic, social and health care costs (Institute for Health Policy, 1993; Rice, 1991; Manning, 1989; US Department of Health and Human Services, 1993). A recent study estimated that the total economic cost of alcohol-related problems was \$148 billion in 1992: \$18.8 billion in health care costs, \$67.7 billion in lost productivity and \$19.7 billion in crime (Harwood, 1998).

Effective treatments exist for the entire spectrum of alcohol-related problems (Fleming, 1997; CSAT TIP #28; NIAAA, 1995), but fewer than half of those individuals who need treatment actually receive it (Institute of Medicine, 1990). One in 5 men and 1 in 10 women who visit their primary care providers meet the criteria for at-risk drinking, problem drinking or alcohol dependence (Manwell et al, 1998); (Flemming and Manwell, 1999). Primary care physicians (PCPs) are in an ideal position to screen for alcohol problems, begin treatment, and monitor progress. However, primary care systems are not set up to support PCPs in recognizing and treating alcohol use disorders. Since many of these patients do not consult alcohol treatment specialists on their own, important opportunities for identification and treatment are missed (Alcohol Research and Health, 2000). A recent national survey of primary care physicians and patients noted that more than nine in ten physicians fail to identify substance abuse in adults. The majority of patients with substance abuse say that their primary care physician did nothing to either assess or treat their substance abuse (CASA, 2000). A recent study of primary care physicians in Ohio in which 4454 patient visits were observed revealed that screening for alcohol problems took place during 8% of the visits, and only 1% of the patients received counseling on alcohol problems (Jaen, 2000). Other research suggests that many physicians are unaware of patients' substance abuse and do not participate in their patients' recovery (Saitz, 1997).

How can healthcare systems and organizations support PCPs to recognize and treat alcoholrelated problems? Important reasons why PCP's don't recognize and treat alcohol-related problems include (1) the lack of reimbursement or other incentives for alcohol screening and brief interventions, (2) lack of provider training to screen and treat alcohol-related problems, (3) competing demands for clinicians' time and the clinic's resources, and (4) the fact that the general health care system is not integrated or even linked with formal alcohol and drug treatment programs (Fleming, 1999).

The Chronic Care Model (CCM), designed to improve care for patients with chronic conditions, is applicable to a broad range of individuals with alcohol use disorders and offers an approach to increasing the ability of primary care physicians to identify and treat alcohol-related problems. In the model, efforts to improve care are based on guidelines of care for a specific condition, which are then translated into a care plan. The model also highlights the need to link the care plan to appropriate community resources.

The purpose of this document is to discuss how the CCM can be implemented in a primary care practice to improve care for alcohol-related disorders. It is not intended as a blueprint for action, but rather as a guide to factors that need to be considered when adapting and implementing the

model. Where requested by the sponsor, specific recommendations for particular screening methods and instruments as well as diagnostic assessment strategies and treatment techniques are made based on a review of the literature and recommendations received from the expert panel.

This document is organized as follows.

> This report contains four sections.

- The first provides some background on alcohol-related problems, summarizes the existing literature on the prevalence of alcohol disorders, and discusses the rationale for considering the spectrum of alcohol use disorders as chronic conditions.
- The second section describes the chronic care model and suggests how it can be adapted to improve care for alcohol problems in primary care.
- The third section highlights potential barriers to implementing the chronic care model in primary care settings.
- The final section outlines the necessary components for evaluating and monitoring implementation of the model.
- Appendix A summarizes the literature on screening and suggests alternative approaches for identifying individuals with alcohol problems who present to primary care practices.

1. BACKGROUND

Alcohol Use Problems: Definitions and Prevalence

Problematic alcohol consumption can be described in a variety of ways, including problem drinking, at-risk drinking, hazardous drinking, heavy drinking, binge drinking, harmful drinking, alcohol abuse, and alcohol dependence. The Institute of Medicine defines alcohol problems as "those problems that may arise in individuals around their use of beverage alcohol and that may require an appropriate treatment response for their optimum management" (Institute of Medicine, 1990). The Institute of Medicine also suggests describing alcohol problems in terms of duration (acute, intermittent, chronic) and severity (mild, moderate, severe).

The term *alcohol use disorders* is often used to refer to a range of alcohol-related problems, including intoxication. A spectrum of alcohol use disorders, from least to most serious, might be represented as follows:

Problem drinking

Alcohol abuse

Alcohol dependence

In general, *problem, hazardous, or at-risk drinking* means drinking that exceeds an established threshold, but the threshold is defined in a variety of ways. The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA, 1995) considers men who consume more than 14 drinks a week (or >4 drinks per occasion) and women who consume more than 7 drinks per week (or >3 drinks per occasion) to be at-risk drinkers (NIAAA, 1995). The World Health Organization sets the threshold at more than 21 drinks a week for men and more than 14 drinks a week for women (Saunders, 1993). Several recent studies have set the threshold at more than 14 drinks for men, or more than 9 to 11 drinks per week for women (Sanchez-Craig, 1995; Fleming, 1999). The US Public Health Service recommends that adults over 65 limit alcohol consumption to a maximum of one drink per day (USDHHS 1997).

Alcohol abuse is similar to harmful drinking. Harmful drinking is use that results in physical or psychological harm and is defined by criteria of the *International Classification of Diseases-10* (ICD-10). The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual IV defines both alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence. Abuse is characterized by the presence of social or health-related problems related to the person's consistent pattern of substance use. Alcohol dependence is characterized by a cluster of recognizable symptoms, including physical withdrawal, loss of control over drinking episodes, and continued use of alcohol despite knowledge of having a physical or psychological problem that is likely caused by alcohol.

The distinctions between some categories on this spectrum are in a sense arbitrary. For example, alcohol abuse entails social consequences, so a person who commits a traffic violation while legally drunk falls in the category of alcohol abuse. However, a problem drinker may routinely be just as intoxicated but the drinking lacks social consequences—for example, he or she lives alone and drinks at home.

People may progress along the spectrum from problem drinking to alcohol abuse and then dependence, but not necessarily. And they might move back and forth between categories—for example, between problem drinking and alcohol abuse.

Alcohol use disorders are widespread in the U.S. population. The 1992 national Longitudinal Alcohol Epidemiologic Survey interviewed nearly 43,000 individuals to determine the prevalence of these disorders among U.S. adults. Forty-four percent were defined as current drinkers (12 or more drinks in the past year), 17% were defined as moderate drinkers (3-13 drinks per week), and about 8% were defined as heavier drinkers (two or more drinks/day). About 7% of current drinkers met criteria for alcohol abuse; about 10% met criteria for alcohol dependence. Using data from the 1988 national Health Interview Survey (NHIS), a population-based study of more than 40,000 US adults, Archer and Grant found that 54% reported current consumption. Nine percent met criteria for abuse or dependence, and 24 % reported hazardous drinking (Archer, 1995).

Fleming et al. looked at the frequency of at-risk drinking among 19,372 adults attending several primary care clinics in rural and urban Wisconsin (Fleming, 1998). Most were part of a staff model HMO. Twenty percent of both men and women met the NIAAA criteria for at-risk drinking (see definition on previous page). Risk factors for at-risk drinking among all age groups included current smokers, never having been married, retired status and current unemployment. Among patients older than 60, 15% of men and 12% of women regularly reported drinking in excess of the NIAAA limits (Adams, 1996). Fourteen percent of males aged 61-65 reported regularly drinking more than six drinks per occasion, as did 3% of the women. Among patients younger than 65, white race, college education and currently married status were all significantly and independently associated with being more likely to use alcohol.

Volk reported the prevalence of hazardous drinking for 1333 primary care patients from different ethnic backgrounds in Texas. Hazardous drinking was observed among 4% of white men, 5% of African American men and 9% Mexican American men. For women, the corresponding numbers were 4% of white women, 3% of African American women and 2% of Mexican American women (R.J. Volk, PhD, written communication to M.C. Reid, November 1998). The most common disorder encountered was alcohol dependence with prevalence rates ranging from 11-14% among men and 5-7% among women. Among 1962 patients seeing a primary care physician at Group Health Cooperative in Washington State, about 9% met ICD-10 criteria for harmful use of alcohol (Von Korff, 1996).

Why Alcohol Use Disorders Are Similar to Other Chronic Conditions.

Chronic illnesses are illnesses that are not self-limiting and last longer than 3 months. The spectrum of alcohol use problems shares many characteristics of other chronic illnesses, including late onset of symptoms, unpredictable course, complex etiologies and behaviorally oriented treatment (CSAT TIP #24). For alcohol dependence, research suggests a significant genetic contribution, with heritability estimates of 0.55 for male patients dependent on alcohol (True, 1999), comparable to heritability estimates for other chronic illnesses (McLellan, 2000). Onset and course of alcohol dependence have a predictable pathogenesis characterized by persistent changes in brain chemistry and function. Hser et al. (1997) use a 'treatment careers' approach to characterize the chronic and relapsing nature of addictive illnesses.

4

Response to treatment for alcohol problems is similar to the response to treatment for other chronic illnesses, with significant problems in compliance, dropout and relapse (McLellan, 2000). Consider the parallels with diabetes. When a PCP diagnoses diabetes, initial treatment is often "education" and "diet-control." However, these interventions may fail to control the diabetes, and the PCP prescribes medication while continuing education and "diet control." As with the individual with an alcohol problem, the diabetic patient may have good periods (defined as good blood sugar control), and wax into "uncontrolled" periods (defined as poor blood sugar control). The disease—diabetes-- must be constantly managed.

Primary care clinicians provide continuity of care and coordinate specialty referrals for their patients with other chronic conditions. They are thus ideally situated to provide care for alcohol related problems, including referrals to additional treatment when appropriate. And they have ample opportunity to do so: 70% of the population—191 million people—visit a primary care provider at least once every two years (CASA, 2000). Components of the CCM have been demonstrated to improve outcomes in other chronic conditions such as asthma, diabetes, hypertension, coronary heart disease, back pain, chronic bowel disease, and depression, (Holman 2000, Williams 2000, Simon 2000, Lorig 1999, Anderson 1995).

Adapting and implementing the CCM to address alcohol problems in primary care settings should increase the ability of the PCP to identify and effectively treat alcohol-related problems. Indeed, identifying and treating patients with alcohol-related problems should increase the ability of primary care providers to improve overall health. Alcohol problems are frequently implicated in many health conditions, and alcohol use can exacerbate symptoms and complicate treatment compliance. The adverse effects of alcohol use are related to both the quantity and patterns of use. Studies suggest that there is a dose-response relationship between the amounts of alcohol consumed and stroke mortality, liver cirrhosis, cardiovascular disease, depression and trauma (reviewed in Fleming, Manwell, Barry and Johnson 1998). In addition, the number of drinks per occasion is an important risk factor for death from injury (Anda, 1988). Alcohol can also interact with many commonly prescribed medications such as antibiotics, antidepressants, antihypertensives, benzodiazepines, H2 blockers and acetaminophen.

2. THE CHRONIC CARE MODEL AND ALCOHOL PROBLEMS

The Chronic Care Model

Although the US health care system is unsurpassed in the delivery of acute care, it falls far short in the delivery of basic preventive care and chronic disease management (US Preventive Task Force, 1996; Wagner, 1996-*Managed Care Quarterly*). A gap exists between the care patients with chronic illnesses usually receive and the availability of known effective health services (Van Korff, 1997). Several researchers have called for "a reassessment of the current organization of health care so that chronically ill patients are more likely to receive services that help them live as well as they can for as long as they can." (Van Korff, 1997)

There are a variety of problems with current chronic illness care. Physician visits are short and focused on symptoms and lab results, not preventive assessment. Physicians are rarely reimbursed for preventative assessment, and treatments that emphasize lifestyle change. Due to time and reimbursement constraints, patients' attempts to discuss their difficulties in living with the condition are discouraged; the visit is focused on the physician's treatment, not the patient's role in management. Health care administrators are concerned about the financial costs of treatment, and there is no organized quality improvement for chronic care. These factors often lead to uninformed passive patients, unprepared clinicians, and frustrating, problem-centered interactions (Wagner, 1999).

A recent review of the literature on chronic care interventions suggests that treatment models aimed at improving the delivery of known efficacious care to patients with chronic conditions can improve outcomes (Wagner, 1996-*Milbank Quarterly*). These interventions share several characteristics that have been organized into a prescriptive model: the *Chronic Care Model* (Wagner, 1996-*Milbank Quarterly*; Van Korff, 1997; Wagner, 1999). The model and its implementation in a variety of diverse sites are currently being evaluated in a large multi-site study funded by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. (Additional information for this study can be found at <u>www.rand.org/health/ICICE/</u>

The chronic care model aims to improve care by transforming the health care system to create informed, activated patients, prepared practice teams, and productive interactions. Figure 1 describes the original version of the model, adapted from Wagner 1996 (*Milbank Quarterly*). Later revisions of the model have also included the importance of the community in which the health system operates and highlighted organizational factors such as leadership and incentives that influence care (Wagner, 1999).



Figure 2.1: The Model for Improving Chronic Illness Care

Under the chronic care model, improving care begins with identifying practice guidelines that describe recommended care for a condition. The guidelines are then adapted for use in particular settings. A protocol or plan is developed that states explicitly what needs to be done for patients, by whom and when. The protocol has four essential components: practice/delivery system redesign, collaborative management, decision support for providers, and clinical information systems.

Practice/Delivery System Redesign

Wagner argues that successful chronic illness programs organize their systems to comply with guidelines and to meet the needs of their patients with chronic health problems. Given the hectic nature of current clinical practice, clinicians must plan the basic ways they organize their practice and do their clinical work. This includes allocating tasks among the practice team, identifying the respective role of each team member, managing appointments and follow-up, and using other health care professionals. Members of the practice team need clearly defined, complementary roles. The way that visits are scheduled and managed may need to change, and might include planned or group visits, or telephone care. If referrals and consultations are used for specialty care, a mechanism must be in place to ensure continuity of care by the primary care team.

Incentives must be put in place to increase the likelihood that patients will receive appropriate care. Research suggests that incentives can be effective. A recent demonstration project that

used a team approach to population-based care improved adherence to treatment guidelines (Taplin, 1998; Payne, 1995). Compliance with breast and colorectal cancer screening increased significantly, as did diabetic eye care and use of blood thinners. Services also need to be reimbursed adequately.

Collaborative Management

Patients and their families provide most of the care in chronic illnesses (Clark, 1991; Lorig, 1993; Sobel, 1995; Wagner, 1996 - *Managed Care Quarterly*). Self-care has four components: " 1. Engaging in activities that promote health, build physiologic reserve and prevent adverse sequelae; 2. Interacting with health care providers and adhering to recommended treatment protocols; 3. Monitoring physical and emotional status and making appropriate management decisions on the basis of the results of self-monitoring; and 4. Managing the effects of illness on one's ability to function" (Van Korff, 1997).

For effective self-care to occur, patients and providers must manage the chronic condition collaboratively. Collaborative management is "care that strengthens and supports self-care in chronic illness while assuring that effective medical preventive, and health maintenance interventions take place...(it) occurs when patients and care providers have shared goals, a sustained working relationship, mutual understanding of roles and responsibilities, and requisite skills for carrying out their roles." (Van Korff, 1997)

Essential elements of collaborative management include collaborative definition of problems; targeting, goal setting and planning; providing a continuum of self-management training and support services; and active sustained follow-up. Together the patient and provider decide which specific problems to focus on, set realistic objectives, and develop a treatment plan for attaining those objectives in the context of patient preferences and readiness. This plan includes access to services that teach skills needed to carry out medical regimens, guide health behavior changes, and provide emotional support.

Practices need to identify a range of effective self-management programs in which patients are encouraged to participate, and to form partnerships with community organizations to participate in delivering these programs. The type of intervention (classes, one-on-one counseling, computer programs) may be less important than its ability to address a patient's identified needs and priorities. (Wagner, 1996 - *Managed Care Quarterly*). Follow-up by a designated team member at specified intervals is necessary to monitor health status, identify potential complications, and check and reinforce progress in implementing the care plan (Van Korff, 1997).

Decision Support for Providers

For generalist physicians to provide optimal care, they must have available to them expertise in managing specific patients. Referrals or consultations are the most typical ways to obtain such expertise, but these methods run the potential risk of further fragmenting care and not increasing the skills of the referring clinician. Alternatives include strategies that make expertise available to primary care clinicians through local "experts" or programs where specialists and generalists manage patients together in primary care settings. Computer decision-support systems (e.g. simple computer reminders to carry out recommended behaviors) may also encourage recommended behaviors. Clinical trials have consistently shown that computerized reminders

increase the likelihood that appropriate care will be delivered (Wagner, 1996 - Managed Care Quarterly). In addition, when specialty care is needed, pathways for referral need to be prospectively established with strong linkages for patient management and information flow. Pathways for referrals must be user friendly. Referrals requiring paperwork and lengthy phone calls drain already limited resources.

Clinical Information Systems

Having a list of all patients with a condition – a registry--allows providers to be proactive in identifying and treating patients in accordance with an explicit plan of care. Disease management registries are different from billing and scheduling software, which generally contain limited clinical information, and from computerized patient records, which are expensive and typically lack the disease management function (Metzger, Haughton and Smithson, 1999).

Computerized clinical information systems organize data from disparate information sources, remind clinicians when to contact patients for needed follow-up or preventive care, and provide a way to track care processes and outcomes. Ideally, a clinical information system performs four functions: identifies patients with a particular condition who are enrolled in the management program, tracks the results and completion of the recommended care components and interventions, reminds clinicians of recommended interventions and information on a patients' current clinical status, and tracks patients for follow-up. (Metzger, Haughton and Smithson, 1999). Computerized disease management registries are under development and may make population-based management both feasible and affordable. (Metzger, Haughton and Smithson, 1999). 'Low-tech' versions of clinical information systems such as an Excel spreadsheet, which perform one or two of the four functions, may be more feasible and less costly to implement as a first step. The screening form that a patient completes in the waiting room is also an information reminder system and may prompt as much discussion as a computer screen.

Factors that affect the delivery of care but that are outside the model

Community resources and the organization of the health care system are two additional factors that affect the delivery of care but were outside of the original description of the chronic care model. Effective chronic illness care requires that the health care system be linked with appropriate resources available in the larger community and organized to support the development of effective chronic illness care (Wagner, 1999). Governmental programs and community-based voluntary organizations can augment health care services, but health care organizations often have difficulty making linkages with relevant community resources. Practices need to identify community resources that support effective chronic illness care, and to develop collaborative relationships with such resources to facilitate patient access. The larger community also plays a role in setting relevant health policy. Leadership, incentives, and resources must be in place to help the system develop and reorganize to meet the needs of patients with chronic illnesses. National health policy and recommendations can be important in obtaining the support and leadership of key personnel in the health care system to lead reorganization efforts. The health care system should also have a defined approach to system improvement.

Adapting the CCM to Improve Care for Alcohol Problems

There are many different ways in which primary care providers can provide care for individuals along the spectrum of alcohol-use problems.

- Primary care clinicians can assess level of alcohol consumption and screen for the presence of psychological, physiologic and social problems resulting from alcohol use. Although specialty substance abuse treatment programs may be most effective for individuals with alcohol abuse or dependence, patients with abuse or dependence frequently present initially to primary care practices rather than to specialty programs for care. Primary care clinicians can identify such individuals and encourage them to attend specialty treatment programs.
- PCPs can also deliver brief interventions. Such interventions are appropriate for individuals with alcohol abuse or dependence if the intervention motivates clients to attend specialty treatment or helps them reduce their drinking to non-harmful levels. Brief interventions are also effective for people with problem drinking who do not meet the criteria for abuse or dependence. The goal of brief interventions for people with problem drinking is to encourage moderation and to educate them about the risks associated with increased use (CSAT TIP #34).
- Finally, PCPs can assess and develop a treatment plan for co-occurring medical and psychiatric problems. Depending on the nature and severity of the co-occurring problem, treatment may be delivered by the PCP or by specialty care (CSAT TIP #9).

How might a primary care practice use the chronic care model to reorganize care for individuals with alcohol problems? In the section below, we answer this question, organizing our discussion by the components of Figure 1. We first review the literature supporting alcohol guidelines. We then discuss the three critical content areas that form the basis for evidence-based care—screening, assessment and diagnosis, and treatment. We conclude by identifying the issues that primary care practices must address if they want to implement the chronic care model for alcohol problems.

Guidelines

Although formal practice guidelines for treating alcohol problems in primary care settings do not exist, (the CSAT TIPS are for substance abuse disorders and the NIAAA resources are not formal guidelines) several resources provide strong evidence for the components of effective treatments. These resources include

- A Guide to Substance Abuse Services for Primary Care Clinicians, TIP #24; Naltrexone and Alcoholism Treatment, TIP # 28; and Brief Interventions and Brief Therapies for Substance Abuse, TIP # 34, all published by CSAT;
- Practice Guideline for the Treatment of Substance Use Disorders: Alcohol, Cocaine, Opioids published by the American Psychiatric Association; 1995.
- Current Concepts in Alcohol: Screening and Brief intervention for the Primary Care Physician, published by NIAAA; 1997.
- The Clinician's Handbook of Preventive Services, published by AHRQ. 1998.
- The physicians guide to helping patients with alcohol problems. NIAAA, 1995.

11

Together these publications provide an inventory of what is appropriate care for people with alcohol problems who present to a primary care provider. We draw upon these resources as 'informal guideline' since they are not specifically aimed or written for treating and managing alcohol problems in primary settings. CSAT TIP # 13 (*The Role and Current Status of Patient Placement Criteria In the Treatment of Substance Use Disorders*) describes the components and indications for different levels of specialty care. Components of care include screening, diagnosis, treatment and continuing care.

Components of Evidenced-Based Planned Care

Screening. Current substance abuse treatment recommendations (in informal guidelines) suggest that all primary care patients be screened for alcohol use disorders, but in practice this may be unrealistic (CSAT TIP #24; IOM, 1990). An alternative is to target screening to those at higher risk, to those who have co-morbid medical conditions for whom alcohol problems would be of particular concern, or to individuals whose medication use is complicated by alcohol use. Targeting 'red flag' conditions or symptoms addresses providers' concerns about the time and resources required for screening, thereby increasing the probability that at least some patients will be screened. Once providers are routinely screening a proportion of their practice, they might be more amenable to screening all patients at regular intervals. NIAAA recommends that all patients be screened during a routine health examination, before prescribing medications that interact with alcohol and in response to presenting problems that may be alcohol related such as hypertension, depression and sleep disorders (NIAAA, 1997).

A limitation of targeted screening is that it implicitly sanctions not screening a large proportion of patients. Targeted screening will miss many individuals with alcohol problems, especially those who are young, who may not have developed "red flag" medical complications. One benefit of universal screening is that it identifies problem drinking before it has physical health consequences.

We reviewed the characteristics of the most widely used alcohol-disorder screening instruments suitable for use in primary care settings. Details of that review and descriptions of the instruments appear in Appendix A. At the request of our sponsor, we also conferred with the expert panel to determine which instrument might best be implemented within routine primary care settings. Based on our review, we recommend the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) or the shorter AUDIT-C for screening in primary care. Both have been tested extensively in primary care settings (CSAT TIP #24), were developed using large samples from six quite different countries and can be either self-administered or administered by a nontechnical staff (Institute of Medicine, 1990). Unlike the CAGE, the scoring of these instruments is correlated with the severity of the alcohol problem, and the cutoff point for a positive result can be changed to make it more sensitive. This is advantageous because most experts recommend that for screening in primary care, sensitivity (the ability to identify all cases) is more important than specificity (the ability to identify only true positive cases). In addition, while most screening instruments that are currently available were developed specifically to identify severe alcohol problems and are less sensitive to problem drinking, the AUDIT or AUDIT-C is was developed to identify problem drinking and is well suited for identifying the range of alcohol use disorders typically found in a primary care setting.

Assessment and diagnosis. "The principal purpose of gathering assessment information is to provide a basis for selection of the most appropriate treatment for the individual being assessed" (Institute of Medicine, 1990). Patients who screen positive should be assessed to determine the nature and extent of their alcohol-related problems (NIAAA, Physician's Guide to Helping People with Alcohol Problems, 1995). In order to determine the most appropriate treatment, one must consider characteristics of the problem as well as characteristics of the individual manifesting the problem.

Information gained through an assessment can be used to clarify the type and extent of the problem and determine the appropriate treatment response. The assessment:

- 1. Examines problems related to use (medical, behavioral, social, and financial)
- 2. Provides data for formal diagnosis of a problem
- 3. Establishes severity of an identified problem (mild, moderate, intermediate, or severe)
- 4. Helps determine appropriate level of care and guides treatment planning (e.g., whether specialized care is needed, components of an appropriate referral)
- 5. Defines a baseline of the patient's status to which the patient's future condition can be compared (NIAAA, 1995)

In assessing alcohol problems, we follow the recommendations in CSAT's TIP #24 and suggest collecting information along the following dimensions:

- Level of use
- Pattern of use
- History of use
- Signs and symptoms of use
- Consequences of use

In addition, it is useful to collect information in the following domains: medical, psychiatric, family, employment, education, legal, financial and other consequences (Institute of Medicine, 1990). Several assessment instruments are available to assist clinicians and are described in TIP #24. However because of the time, training and resources required to administer them, the Consensus Panel that developed TIP #24 does not recommend their use in primary care settings.

Treatment. Both motivational interventions and brief interventions are forms of treatment that have become central to stimulating health behavior changes in primary care settings. Because both draw upon the theoretical framework described in the stages-of-change work by Prochaska and DiClemente (Prochaska and DiClemente 1984, 1986), we describe the stages of change first. This model was developed for understanding how people change addictive behaviors, both within and outside of formal treatment systems. (Adapted from Prochaska and DiClemente, 1984). The stages of change are discussed further in CSAT TIP # 35.

Stages of Change. The stages-of-change model is used by clinicians to tailor both motivational interventions and brief interventions to client's needs. The five stages of change are:

- 1. Precontemplation. The user is not considering change, is aware of few negative consequences and is unlikely to take action soon.
- 2. Contemplation. The user is aware of some pros and cons of substance use, but feels ambivalent about change.

- 3. Preparation. This step begins when the user decides to change and begins to plan steps towards recovery.
- 4. Action. Generally treatment is effective when a client is in this stage. The user is in early recovery but the new behaviors are not yet stable.
- 5. Maintenance. The user establishes new behaviors on a long-term basis.

Motivational Interventions. Motivational interventions are clinical strategies designed to enhance clients' motivation for change. The role of the health care provider is to encourage clients to recognize a problem behavior, to regard positive change to be in their best interest, to feel competent to change, to develop a plan for change, to take action, and to practice relapse prevention strategies (CSAT TIP # 35). It is important for providers to identify what stage of change applies to their patient. For example, a person in precontemplation needs information on *why* they need to make the change. They can be given information on the effect of alcohol on their health. A person in preparation already knows why they need to make the change. Instead a person in preparation needs information on *how* to make the change. They could be presented with choices on how to implement the change.

Current motivational approaches include the following six elements identified by the acronym FRAMES, adapted from CSAT TIP #35 and Miller and Sanchez, 1994:

- 1. FEEDBACK regarding personal risk or impairment is given to the client, based on an assessment of alcohol use patterns and problems.
- 2. **RESPONSIBILITY** for change is placed on the client.
- 3. ADVICE about reducing or stopping alcohol use is given to the client in a non-judgmental manner.
- 4. MENUS of self-directed change options and treatment alternatives are discussed and offered to the client.
- 5. EMPATHIC counseling is emphasized, with a show of warmth, respect and understanding.
- 6. SELF-EFFICACY or optimistic empowerment is engendered in the client to encourage change.

Motivational interventions are discussed further in CSAT TIP #35.

Brief interventions. Brief interventions, which are central to providing care in primary care settings, are "time-limited, patient-centered counseling strategies that focus on changing behavior and increasing treatment compliance" (Fleming, 2000). Primary care providers can deliver brief interventions during routine office visits to help patients change a variety of health-related behaviors, including excessive alcohol use. The specific goals of a brief intervention may vary for different patient populations. For non-dependent drinkers who consume above the recommended level, brief interventions can reduce alcohol use and the risk of alcohol-related problems. For individuals with alcohol dependence, brief interventions can also be used to facilitate compliance with medication and abstinence from alcohol among patients who are being treated with medications for alcohol dependence and co-occurring psychiatric conditions such as depression. Clinicians can use a brief intervention to motivate a particular behavioral change at each stage of the change process. (Fleming, 1999, CSAT TIP #34).

Although the brief interventions described in the research literature have varied across different programs and settings, they have all shared several essential steps.

Step I. Assessment and Direct Feedback. This involves assessing a patient's alcohol use and alcohol-related problems, expressing concern about the patient's drinking patterns and, when appropriate, linking the patient's alcohol use to a medical problem. This should be done with the patients stage of change in mind.

Step II. Negotiation and Goal Setting. The health care provider and the patient agree on mutually acceptable goals for reducing alcohol use.

Step III. Behavioral Modification Techniques. The health care provider helps the patient identify high-risk and vulnerable situations in which drinking is likely to occur, and familiarizes the patient with coping techniques for managing these situations.

Step IV. Self-Help-Directed Bibliotherapy. The health care provider provides the patients with educational materials on alcohol use and problems, and with behavioral modification exercises.

Step V. Follow-up and Reinforcement. In order to ensure long-term effectiveness, the health care provider establishes a system for conducting follow-up. (Adapted from Fleming, 1999 and CSAT TIP #34).

Many clinical trials have demonstrated that brief interventions reduce alcohol use over a 6 to 12 month follow-up period in a variety of populations. These interventions are applicable to individuals all along the spectrum of alcohol disorders, but they are most often used with patients who are not alcohol dependent. Meta analyses have confirmed the benefit (Bien, 1993; Wilk, 1997) and suggest that 10-30% of those patients receiving brief interventions will change their drinking behaviors (Fleming, 1999). Brief interventions appear to be effective for both men and women and among all age groups. In addition to reducing alcohol use, brief interventions are associated with improved liver function and decreased health care utilization for related medical problems (Reid, 1999). Benefit-cost analyses show that brief interventions are associated with a positive net benefit for patients, the health care system and society (Fleming 2000; Fleming unpublished manuscript, 2001)

However despite the apparent effectiveness of brief interventions, many unanswered questions remain. Long-term outcomes (greater than 12 months) have not been demonstrated. Although successful interventions shared common features across studies, the specific content and frequency of the intervention varied. Thus it is not known what the specifications of an ideal brief intervention are, or whether booster sessions over time are needed (Reid, 1999).

Applying the Chronic Care Model to the Components of Care

To use the chronic care model to deliver appropriate care for the range of alcohol problems encountered in primary care settings, primary care practices need to consider how the model intersects with the four components of clinical care: screening, assessment and diagnosis, treatment and continuing care. The attached matrix illustrates how the chronic care model can be used to reorganize these components. Issues relevant to screening are more extensively discussed in Appendix A.

Each row of the matrix is a component of the chronic care model (practice/delivery system redesign, collaborative management, decision support and clinical information systems), and each column is a component of clinical care (screening, diagnosis, treatment and continuing care). The cells of the matrix contain questions that providers and programs need to answer in order to improve care for alcohol problems. For example, column 4 lists questions on a variety of treatment issues that are relevant to delivery system design, collaborative management, decision support, and clinical information systems. For most questions there is no one "right' answer.

The matrix does not specify what practices should do; rather it identifies the issues they need to consider when reorganizing their practice to provide care that is consistent with practice guidelines and patient preferences. In our discussion, we identify resources and information that we hope will help practices address the relevant issues. In addition, the matrix does not specify who should carry out the tasks. Some practices may hire a care manager, a behavioral health specialist, an administrative assistant, or some combination of the above to help them implement the model; other practices may choose to reassign team members to perform these functions. Practices need to consider how to best use their personnel and other resources to carry out the various tasks.

Practice/delivery system redesign (row 1). Central issues in this area are staffing and roles who does what to whom and when? Successful interventions for improving outcomes of chronic illnesses usually use one of two strategies: (1) they enhance the work of the usual practice team (i.e. PCP, nurses, etc.), or (2) they bypass it by creating a new care provider and team (i.e. the behavioral health specialist) (Wagner chapter 3, 1999). A third model, referral for off-site specialty care, might be most appropriate for individuals with more severe alcohol problems, or for those with co-occurring severe mental illness (CSAT TIP # 34). In this model, the PCP would diagnose the alcohol use disorder and evaluate the patient for the presence of a cooccurring mental illness before determining that specialty care is appropriate.

Both on-site models have been shown to be effective in different settings and with illnesses other than alcohol. But it is not known which model works best for the range of problems on the spectrum of alcohol disorders. The answer is likely dependent on the particular characteristics of the practice and on the severity of the alcohol problem seen.

For clients with a diagnosis of alcohol abuse or problem drinking, a brief intervention is an appropriate treatment. For individuals with alcohol dependence, an on-site treatment model in which a brief intervention is delivered may be the most appropriate first step. Although the ultimate goal for such individuals is to refer them to specialty care, fewer than 20 % of clients referred out for behavioral health services follow through on the referral (Rodger Kessler, personal communication). The use of the chronic care model and a brief intervention for this group may help motivate clients with alcohol dependence to follow through on a referral for specialty alcohol treatment if alcohol use continues to be a problem.

The brief intervention could be delivered in a variety of ways. Having a behavioral health specialist (BHS) on site would be ideal for delivering the intervention, although most primary care practices do not have an on site BHS. Practices without a BHS may choose to have the PCP or nurse deliver the intervention. Or responsibilities could be shared. The physician might give feedback to the patient since this activity might draw upon the physician's recognized authority and expertise while the nurse/health educator performs the other steps. If a BHS is used, the practice will need to consider how the PCP and treatment team is kept informed of the patient's progress in the context of confidentiality issues pertinent to the setting. The specific question of who does what will depend on the interest and skills of the usual practice team, the resources (financial and specialty consultation) available to support the work of the usual practice team, and the character of the alcohol problems may want to consider hiring a behavioral health specialist. In those situations where the primary care provider has an interest and is trained in delivering care for alcohol problems, practices may want to consider hiring a care manager to perform some of the more administrative functions.

Collaborative management (row 2). This term refers to collaboration between the patient and the physician. The central elements in this area are activating patients, providing them with self-management support, and involving them in planning collaborative treatment. For example, practices will need to identify a menu of self-management support services available to patients. All practices should have access to on-site written educational materials describing warning signs, the effect of alcohol on health, and techniques for relapse prevention. In most cases the care manager can deliver these materials personally to the patient. Some practices may be able to provide on-site support services such as mutual aid groups, educational groups, skills training in relapse prevention and behavioral modification, as well as groups that help patients develop and maintain a healthy lifestyle. Other practices may choose to develop linkages with community resources such as existing AA meetings or family support services. Still others may choose to provide both on-site support as well as off-site linkages. Providing web-based resource materials is yet another option. Ideally, practices should provide a variety of means through which clients can obtain services to support self-management.

Prior to beginning the recommended treatment, practices should collaborate with patients to identify and agree upon long-term goals and the means to achieve these goals. This would include working with patients to identify the optimal frequency and number of follow-up visits, the type of recommended treatment and available community resources.

For clients who resist participating in a collaborative treatment process, interventions to motivate change may be useful. These include motivational interviewing, providing feedback and advice about changing behavior, and involving the family as a collaborator. Understanding a client's location within one of the five stages of change (Prochaska et al., 1992) is important since individuals seem to use and need different types of help depending on which stage of change they are currently in. Motivational interventions are further discussed in CSAT TIP # 35—*Enhancing Motivation for Change in Substance Abuse Treatment*.

To make collaborative management work, practices need to look at their screening and assessment procedures and ask if these procedures are culturally sensitive and give the patient

choices and an opportunity to collaborate in the assessment process. Under ideal circumstances, the model implies that, practices would allow patients to choose how screening is done (for example, paper and pencil, computerized, interview format), who conducts the screening (physician, nurse, BHS), and who delivers the brief intervention (physician, nurse, BHS). This however may be overly cumbersome and inefficient for primary care practices who for practical reasons may need to define how the screening is accomplished. Practices might also consider what incentives would encourage patients to attend their brief intervention sessions, and how they can make patients aware of the follow-up contact they should expect. Providers should seek to develop a mutually agreed upon treatment plan to include short and long term goals and a schedule of follow up appointments. Opportunities to link patients with other support such as social services, vocational training, legal assistance and financial counseling and to facilitate the long term management of care and relapse prevention may also be helpful (CSAT TIP #27). These referrals and linkages could be made through case management, however, many primary care practices do not currently have on-site case managers or the appropriate resources to provide these resources. Individual practices may wish to examine potential linkages with case management agencies if such relationships would be helpful and financially feasible.

Decision support (row 3) refers to the expertise that primary care providers must have available to provide optimal care for specific patients. Guidelines or protocols for screening and treatment that cover both brief interventions and referral to off-site specialty care are the cornerstone of decision support. Such guidelines should cover co-morbidities and must address the different types of alcohol problems and levels of severity. They should also incorporate the concept of stepped care—that is, patients who do not do well with a low intensity intervention may benefit from an alternative approach or a higher intensity intervention. Guidelines should also be flexible and accommodate both what providers can do and what patients want, and should include work-and patient-flow guidelines that staff can use to manage care. It may be necessary for practices to identify and develop both an overall patient management guideline for alcohol problems as well as a specific protocol for delivering and monitoring brief interventions.

The informal guidelines identified above provide an overview of appropriate patient care. However, they must be adapted to the specific needs and resources of the practice and to the particular type of alcohol problem. In addition, the current guidelines do not address how to manage patients who do not profit from brief interventions or how to supplement brief interventions.

Although guidelines are the cornerstone of decision support, in most practices referrals or consultations with a specialist who is not located at the primary care clinic are the most typical methods for obtaining such expertise. Treating alcohol dependence is different from treating other chronic illnesses with regards to the relationship between the PCP and the specialty provider. Usually a PCP who refers a patient for specialty care will receive information back from the specialty provider. However, clinical experience suggests that PCPs who refer patients for specialty alcohol evaluation and treatment rarely receive feedback from the provider (Michael Fleming, personal communication). Likewise, behavioral health specialists report difficulty in coordinating care and indicate that primary care physicians often do not share needed information when requested (Tanielian, 2000). This communication difficulty may be due n part to the special confidentiality protections that apply to the treatment of substance

abuse. Thus off-site referral may be a poor mechanism for providing expert decision support to primary care providers. Alternatives include making expertise available to primary care clinicians through local "experts" or programs in which a behavioral health specialist and a primary care provider manage patients together in primary care settings. Having prearranged agreements with specialty providers that are specific with regard to referral and information flow are important.

Computer decision support systems (e.g. simple computer reminders to carry out recommended behaviors) may also encourage behaviors recommended by guidelines.

Clinical information systems (row 4). To deliver optimal care, practices need to develop a registry of all patients with alcohol problems and a way to monitor and track their health. Clinical information systems help to identify at-risk patients, obtain feedback from providers, and manage patients' care. Practices need to determine whether their information system can help them with these tasks, and if not, how it might be modified or replaced. Because most current billing and electronic medical records systems can not provide the functions of a patient management system, practices will need to decide whether they have the resources to invest in a computerized disease management system, or whether they want to implement a manual system that prompts for recommended care. The ideal system would prompt for repeated screening at designated intervals, keep track of subgroups based on severity and co-morbidities, remind providers of when patients need or miss follow-up contact, and track the completion of recommended care components. The ideal system would also remind clinicians of available community resources and could be regularly updated and accessed by the whole disease management team.

3. POTENTIAL BARRIERS TO IMPLEMENTING THE CHRONIC CARE MODEL

Those trying to implement the chronic care model for alcohol problems in primary care settings may encounter barriers at the *health care system*, *provider*, and *patient* level. Most of these barriers are germane to system change, quality improvement, and implementation of the chronic disease management approach in general. However, we discuss them here as they apply to implementing the chronic care model for alcohol-use disorders in primary care settings.

Barriers at the Health Care System Level

Barriers at this level range from the dramatic and rapid changes in health care systems and financing mechanisms to the level of resources available in individual practice settings (Wagner, 1999). These system-level barriers can limit the success of the model's implementation in several ways, including decreasing providers' ability to redesign practices, activate patients and motivate them for self-management, and provide care efficiently. Wagner et al. (1999) cited the flux in organizational structure and culture within health care systems as a major barrier to implementing chronic disease management programs.

Since many health care systems lack a disease management strategy, there may be a *limited* framework in which to approach alcohol problems in a chronic care model. Thus shifting the focus of the visit and reorganizing delivery of care may be difficult. Primary care medical visits are traditionally organized around the diagnosis and treatment of acute conditions (Wagner, 1996). During time-limited and often rushed visits (10 - 15 minutes per patient), physicians tend to evaluate symptoms and identify treatment strategies. Unless physicians are adequately compensated for time spent in discussing and teaching self-management techniques, it is difficult to work this into a visit. In addition, Von Korff and Wagner argue that physicians view themselves as the primary influence on the outcomes of their patients, leaving little opportunity for discussing patient self-management techniques (Von Korff and Wagner et al., 1996).

Without a comprehensive disease management strategy, PCPs may have *insufficient referral options* for specialty care as well as *limited availability of services* for treating alcohol disorders. These may be greater barriers for smaller systems of care. Fleming and Manwell (1999) specifically cite lack of integration of alcohol and other drug treatment into primary care settings as a major barrier to implementing brief interventions for alcohol disorders in primary care.

Even when specialty services are available, payment for specialty services, the involvement of multiple insurance carriers and the process of referring a patient from primary to specialty care can be seen as insurmountable barriers. Such insurance barriers also have effects at the provider and patient level; however, we discuss them here because of their major impact on coordination and integration of care at the system level.

In both the public and private sector, there has been major structural change in the organization and financing of mental health and substance abuse care, including widespread adoption of managed behavioral health care carve-outs; changes in physician organization; and changes in provider payment arrangements, including the use of capitation and risk sharing. These new market arrangements often distort a PCPs calculation of the cost-effectiveness of treating a patient in their own practices because these arrangements do not impose the true cost of using a particular service on the decision-maker. As a result, they create difficulties for adoption of particular clinical models aimed at primary care. For example, behavioral health carve-outs fragment the financing of treatment for alcohol problems by separating the funds for mental health/substance abuse treatment from the rest of the health benefit. When PCPs face even limited financial risk for the amount of services they deliver (e.g., capitation or withhold), they have a strong incentive to refer patients to the specialty carve-out because they then face no risk for specialty services that patients use. If PCPs treat patients in their own practice instead of referring them to specialty care, the PCPs may go unpaid. This risk provides a strong disincentive for PCPs to detect and treat alcohol problems.

Carve-outs can also hinder coordination and communication between primary and specialty care. Behavioral health carveouts dictate that patients in their plans use specific providers who are often unfamiliar to the PCP, limiting communication and interaction. In some carve-out structures, collaboration and communication are not only limited, but also discouraged with financial and structural disincentives (Pincus, Pechura, Elinson, Pettit, 2001, unpublished information). For example, in some behavioral health carve-out structures to make a referral to a mental health specialist, a primary care physician may only be able to offer the patient a toll-free telephone number to a managed behavioral health organization triage center who in turn would put the patient in touch with a specialty provider. If the primary care physician provided a number directly to a specialty provider, the specialty provider may not be reimbursed since the referral did not pass through the triage center. This lack of communication often results in conflicting messages from providers to patients in terms of what their care and treatment should be. This causes confusion and impacts compliance.

Although indemnity models and integrated managed care system models have the potential to facilitate the implementation of a chronic care model for alcohol problems in primary care, the referral interface between primary care and specialty services itself still presents major obstacles to ensuring appropriate services are provided. Many systems within these models still lack effective coordination between primary and specialty care. Room for improvement exists across all current models.

Recent studies have documented poor communication, limited or no information transfer, and limited case sharing between primary care and specialty providers (Tanielian, 2000; Williams, 1999). Physicians note poor communication and follow-up especially among mental health and addiction specialists (Tanielian, 2000; Williams, 1999; Fleming, personal communication, 2000). Although PCPs report successful interactions with and follow up from other specialty providers, such as cardiologists, they have greater difficulty with addiction specialists and psychiatrists. One physician even noted that there is an apparent lack of respect and collegiality between primary care providers and addiction specialists (Fleming personal communication 2000). If not addressed, these factors may greatly diminish the ability of primary and specialty providers to cooperatively manage (e.g., share ideas, coordinate treatment plans) and treat patients with alcohol disorders in a chronic care model.

A possible factor associated with poor coordination of care, both within and between primary and specialty care, may be the *lack of clearly defined roles for providers* (Von Korff and Wagner, 1999). As we noted earlier, the CCM requires use of practice teams and delegation of roles. Without good communication between providers, coordinated care cannot be accomplished. With respect to alcohol treatment, the best roles for each provider within the CCM need to be determined. It may be that systems are not utilizing allied health professionals appropriately (Von Korff and Wagner, 1999). Their roles may need to be redefined and integrated with the CCM. Von Korff and Wagner (1999) indicate that the roles of all parties, including the patient's, should be well understood and that communication between specialists and generalists be interactive.

Other health care system level barriers often include *lack of commitment and/or financial support* from the operating unit or leadership for clinical and system change. This translates into lack of support for the providers and patients in individual facilities (Wagner and Davis, 1999; Fleming, 1999). Systems may not allocate funds specifically for facilitating clinical change (e.g., reorganizing the focus of office visits, establishing 'mini-clinics', building community linkages). In some systems funding may be available, but individual programs may need to compete for the same funds, causing tension within the practice system (Wagner and Davis, 1999).

Lack of financial incentives for PCPs to recognize and treat patients with alcohol use disorders and to spend more time with their patients will continue to be a major barrier. Implementing the chronic care model for alcohol use disorders will involve a significant time commitment from providers, much of which may not be reimbursed (Von Korff and Wagner, 1999). Creative mechanisms will need to be identified that give PCPs incentives to engage in the disease management process, and sufficient staffing resources will need to be committed to ensure the success of the model.

Inadequate information systems or inadequate support for such systems can be one of the most important barriers to overcome. In the absence of adequate information system support, health care providers have difficulty ensuring that patients receive necessary services on a timely basis or providing sustained support for patients on long-term management plans (Van Korff and Wagner, 1999).

Barriers at the Provider Level

At the *provider* level, perhaps the most crucial barriers are physicians' *lack of time*, *knowledge*, *training*, *and financial incentives*. Other potential barriers at this level include: provider perception/attitude, role definition, and resources.

During the past 20 years, several scientific, political, administrative, and economic developments have produced vast changes in the health care system in general and in the mental health system in particular (Mechanic, 1998; Pincus, 1996). Due in part to these changes, providers have a *limited amount of time for training*, may have *limited tolerance for additional changes*, and have *access to fewer resources* (both financial and referral options). In fact some physicians may face an incentive system that dictates a reward or penalty based on the number of referrals to specialty care that they make. With the increasing diversity and prominence of managed care organizations and capitated payment systems, physicians have less freedom and flexibility to ensure additional services or specialty care for patients without financial risk.

In the case of implementing the chronic care model for alcohol problems, *insufficient provider knowledge* about screening and diagnostic tools as well as insufficient knowledge/training about effective treatment interventions are major barriers (Fleming, 1999). In a 1996 study, Kamerow

et al. found that less than 1% of medical school teaching hours were spent educating medical students on integrating alcohol and drug abuse issues into their practice. As a result, providers are likely to underestimate the number of patients in their care who may suffer from alcohol problems, thereby reducing the perceived need to implement routine screening practices. In a recent study (CASA 2000), only 20% of primary care providers (n=684) considered themselves 'very prepared' to diagnose alcohol abuse or dependence.

Providers' attitudes about alcohol abuse and beliefs about the efficacy of treatment also strongly affect their behavior. Unfortunately, the stigma associated with alcohol use disorders and their treatment still exists among the primary care provider population. (CASA, 2000) Not only might physicians experience discomfort in asking about emotional or substance abuse problems, but they may doubt that treatment can be effective and may be less likely to try novel approaches. Providers' misperception about effectiveness of alcohol abuse treatment remains a serious problem. CASA 2000 reported that less than 4% of physicians believed that treatment for alcoholism was very effective.

Provider- level barriers to a patient's ability to engage in self-management have also been identified, including the *focus of the medical encounter* (Wagner, 1999; Von Korff and Wagner, 1999). According to Von Korff and Wagner (1999), evaluating and treating acute medical problems during rushed visits initiated by patients makes it very difficult for PCPs to do what's needed for effective chronic illness care and limits opportunities for patients to share experiences. They also note deficiencies in provider follow-up as an important barrier to self-management (Von Korff and Wagner, 1999). Therefore, the assurance of regular follow up will be an essential feature in the success of the CCM for alcohol problems.

The chronic care model for alcoholism is unlikely to be implemented successfully unless each member of the practice team has a *clearly defined role*. Without such definitions, providers are unlikely to understand where their own responsibility lies in managing the patient's alcohol problem. Providers may also be resistant to changing practice patterns in the clinical culture because they are comfortable with the status quo. Therefore, it is critical that incentives be built into the system and that providers be actively engaged in ensuring accountability for its success.

Barriers at the Patient Level

Activating the patient is a critical component of the chronic care model. However, barriers at the patient level may limit the patients' ability and willingness to engage. These include *stigma* associated with substance abuse problems, *lack of resources* (including social support and economic resources), and *severity of comorbid conditions*.

The *social stigma* associated with alcohol problems is perhaps the most powerful of these barriers. For example, patients may be reluctant or unmotivated to ask for help and/or reluctant to provide accurate information when their drinking behavior is questioned (McLellan, 2000). In fact, patients with alcohol problems may be motivated to deny their drinking problems. Patients with alcohol problems may also have limited or no resources for continued services: because of insurance restrictions, many patients receive only detoxification with no continuing care (McLellan, 2000). In surance coverage for substance abuse services is often limited, subject to limits on the types of covered services, the amount payable per year, and coinsurance (Buck,

Teich, Umlan, Stein, 1999). However, it is also important to note that insurance coverage for these services have improved over the last several years due to national and state parity laws.

Lack of familial/social support will make it difficult for patients to remain engaged (particularly in preventing relapse). In general, support from family and friends has been shown to have positive effects. However, several studies have indicated that family members may inadvertently undermine a patient's efforts to adhere to treatment regimens (Burg, 1994; Schafer, 1986). Other risk factors associated with poor treatment adherence may include low socioeconomic status (e.g., limited resources for care) and comorbid psychiatric disorders since serious psychiatric comorbidity may limit the patient's ability to access community resources (McLellan, 2000). Such cumulative burdens of illness and loss of function may impair the patient's ability and readiness to participate in self-management (Von Korff and Wagner, 1999).

Overcoming Barriers

The chronic care model contains several elements intended to overcome many of these barriers. Wagner noted, "The health system must have in place the leadership, incentives, and resources to help practices change to meet the needs of the chronically ill." Factors essential to the model's successful implementation will include (Von Korff and Wagner, 1999; Wagner, 1999; Fleming, 1999):

- Strong system culture and willingness to change
- Use of the model as a checklist to ensure that all critical areas are addressed
- Strong information systems infrastructure
- Committed and engaged providers
- Open and frequent communication among providers
- Adequate provider reimbursement mechanisms

Leadership's commitment and support is critical to ensure that practices are able to implement sustainable change, as is obtaining adequate resources and overseeing continuous quality improvement. To address communication issues and ensure coordination of long-term treatment planning, physicians recommend having the patient sign consent forms to permit communication between providers. Requiring primary care providers and specialty providers to share information more often, possibly in the form of a standard referral form or letter; and requiring treatment centers to provide copies of assessments, treatment plans, and discharge orders to the patient's primary care provider will promote the PCP's ability to effectively manage patients with alcohol problems. Other strategies might include integrating specialized treatment into the primary care setting where sharing of information and communication would be easier to achieve. Because federal and state regulations protect the identities of persons in alcohol or drug treatment, PCPs need to familiarize themselves with the laws and understand the relevance of the regulations to their particular clinical situation. For a further discussion of the Federal and other drug confidentiality law and regulations, see CSAT TAP #13.

4. EVALUATING THE CHRINIC CARE MODEL FOR TREATING ALCOHOL PROBLEMS IN PRIMARY CARE

In considering how to implement a chronic care model, it is also important to consider how one might determine whether or not the strategies developed are successful in meeting the specified aims to improve detection, treatment and management of patients with alcohol problems in primary care settings. Below we describe an overview of how to evaluate chronic care models as adapted for alcohol use disorders in primary care settings. We suggest three phases of evaluation. The evaluation approach and the questions posed will vary with the scope and extent of each phase of the overall effort.

Phase I – Pilot Study Phase II – Effectiveness Study Phase III – Dissemination Study

Phase I: Pilot Study

The goal of the pilot phase is to assess the feasibility of applying the model in a number of different sites. This pilot implementation would also be linked to a shared learning effort across the sites similar to the "break-through series" (BTS) model of the Institute for Health Care Improvement. The principal questions posed in this phase would be:

- To what extent was the model implemented in the sites? For example, what components were not implemented, or modified? What barriers were encountered in implementing the model (and its specific elements)?
- What elements of model design, organizational environment, learning strategies were most important in overcoming these barriers?
- How should the model and the shared learning strategies/technical assistance approaches be modified for the next phase of implementation?
- What measures of model fidelity/implementation may be developed for subsequent evaluation phases?

The principal evaluation methodology would be a qualitative assessment of each site's experience when implementing the model and of the shared learning/technical assistance. An initial step would be developing a conceptual framework to describe the interaction of different elements of the implementation process. Subsequently, instruments would be developed to assess these elements as well as the degree of fidelity/implementation of the model. Potential administrative data sources would also be identified. A limited number of individuals at each of the sites would be interviewed (e.g. center director, funded behavioral health specialist, primary care physician, nurse or other clinicians and participants in the shared learning experience, if not included above) as well as members of the shared learning/technical assistance team. CSAT, site personnel, and others would review both the instruments and the overall evaluation to assure relevance and utility. A final report would respond to the questions noted above to prepare for the next phase.

Phase II: Effectiveness Study

The principal intent of this phase is to assess how implementing the model in typical care settings affects the care patients receive and the outcomes of that care. A cost/benefit evaluation should also be done, to identify whether the additional costs needed to implement the chronic

care model are justified. An additional goal is to understand more fully variations in implementation of the model and how and why they occurred. Thus, the principal questions posed would be:

- Are care processes (including provider satisfaction) changed at intervention sites?
- Are patient outcomes (including patient and family satisfaction and reduced alcohol use) improved at intervention sites?
- Are participating organizations making system changes (i.e. to what extent are they implementing the model)?
- To what extent are variations in 1 and 2 associated with the degree of implementation of particular model components (and what organizational and team factors are associated with success)?

Design Issues: We anticipate that this phase will include additional sites and a much more elaborate evaluation. Although a *before and after* design would permit practices to serve as their own control, collecting the optimal degree of baseline data would likely introduce unacceptable delays. An alternative would be to identify a set of comparison sites matched by type of program, population, size, organization and other factors. Two comparison groups might be included – those that have received funding for a behavioral specialist and those who have not.

Measurement issues: To the extent possible, it would be important to limit measures to those that use data already collected (e.g. administrative data or patient charts) or place limited burden on respondents. The extent to which performance measures could be aligned with existing indicators (e.g. HEDIS, Washington Circle Group) would enhance efficiency and generalizability. Major issues will be designing appropriate and efficient medical record abstraction tools and selecting outcome measures at the patient level. Organizational measures of implementation developed in Phase I would be applied in this study.

Practical Issues: Practical issues that need to be considered include:

- The process of obtaining IRB approval and assuring confidentiality of data.
- Whether and how patients would be contacted for consent.
- Assuring access to administrative data and medical records (for systematic data abstraction).
- Adapting measures to varying administrative/automated data sets.
- Determining the number and timing of data points after baseline.
- Determining methods for risk adjustment of outcomes.

Phase III: Dissemination Study

The primary goal of this phase is to identify the optimal (i.e. effective and efficient) ways to disseminate the model (as adapted from Phases I and II) for wide scale implementation. Other goals include to systematically learn how to overcome obstacles in implementation (across a broader array of settings) so as to inform technical assistance efforts and to set up an ongoing system for monitoring the performance of sites. Thus, embedded in this phase would be a series of studies, potentially involving different subsets of sites, that would develop tools for continued system monitoring as well as approaches for sites to continue improving their care processes. More specific principles would need to await the actual plan for implementation.

5. SUMMARY

Alcohol-related problems are a significant public health concern in the United States. Primary care physicians are in an ideal position to screen for alcohol problems, begin treatment and monitor progress. However, primary care systems are not set up to support PCP's in recognizing and treating alcohol use disorders. The Chronic Care Model is designed to improve care for patients with chronic conditions and is applicable to a broad range of individuals with alcohol use disorders. Since the spectrum of alcohol use problems share many characteristics with other chronic illnesses (late onset of symptoms, unpredictable course, complex etiologies and behaviorally oriented treatments), the CCM offers an approach to increasing the ability of primary care physicians to identify and treat alcohol related problems.

The CCM has four essential components: practice/delivery system redesign, collaborative management, decision support for providers, and clinical information systems. Figure 2.1 provides an overview of the model.

As we describe earlier in this report, the first step in improving care involves identifying practice guidelines that provide treatment recommendations. Although no formal guidelines exist for treating and managing alcohol problems in primary care settings, other related guidelines (for substance use disorders, etc) provide some evidence and treatment recommendations that can be applied in primary care settings. Using these related guidelines, we summarize the components of evidence-based planned care. These include screening, assessment and diagnosis, treatment, and continuing care.

Based on a review of the available instruments, we recommend the using the AUDIT or AUDIT-C and universal screening for all primary care patients (screening approaches and instruments are discussed further in Appendix A). Patients with positive screeners should be assessed to determine the nature and extent of their alcohol related problems. Primary care providers should gather information regarding the level, pattern, history, signs and symptoms, and consequences of use. Ideally, providers should also collect information in the medical, psychiatric, family, employment, education, legal and financial domains. This information may serve to inform diagnoses and treatment planning.

Effective interventions exist and have been successfully implemented within primary care clinicians. In this report, we describe two forms of treatment, motivational interventions and brief interventions, both of which draw upon a theoretical framework developed to understand how people change addictive behaviors. The report also provides a matrix designed to help primary care practices apply the chronic care model to the components of care for alcohol problems. The matrix does not specify what practices should do; rather it identifies issues that need to be considered when adapting and implementing the chronic care model for alcohol problems.

Many potential barriers exist to implementing the chronic care model for alcohol problems in primary care settings, including barriers at the health care system (structural organization and financing of care), at the provider level (lack of time, knowledge and incentives), and the patient level (stigma, lack of resources and support, etc). Several elements of the model address some

of these barriers. Essential to the success of the model is a strong information systems infrastructure, commitment and support from the leadership (system and practice level), commitment and engagement of providers, adequate reimbursement mechanisms, and open and frequent communication.

To evaluate the success of implementing the chronic care model in primary care settings, we recommend a three-phase evaluation. The first phase includes testing the feasibility of applying the model in a number of different sites (pilot study), and the second phase would assess how implementing the model in typical care settings affects the outcomes of care (effectiveness study). The third and final phase aims to identify the optimal ways to disseminate the model for wide scale dissemination (dissemination study).

FIGURE 3.1: ALCOHOL PROBLEMS IN PRIMARY CARE MATRIX²: ADAPTING THE CHRONIC CARE MODEL

This matrix illustrates how each of the four areas of the chronic care model (shown as the row headings) intersects with the four components of clinical care: screening, assessment and diagnosis, treatment and continuing care (shown in the columns). It is written in the form of questions that providers or programs must answer for themselves in order to improve care for alcohol problems. For most questions there is no one "right answer."

Practice & Model Components	Screening Who is resonable for	Assessment and Diagnosis Who is reconsible for	Treatment Who determines when a hrief intervention is	Continuing Care Are there existing referral
Denvery system design: (Staffing, Continuity of care. Follow-up)	w no is responsione for monitoring "red flags" and asking brief screening	will us responsione for carrying out the standardized assessment and diagnosis,	who determines when a prior much vehicle is appropriate or whether a direct referral to specialty care is needed?	Are under existing reletion linkages with the broader alcohol treatment
	questions?	recording it, and discussing		community that can be
	-	treatment options with the	Who is to deliver the brief intervention?	accessed for patients with
	Who is screened and how is this accomplished? What	patient?	If the hrief intervention is to be provided by	alconol abuse or denendence? What
	screening instrument is used	Has the practice identified a	someone other than the PCP, how are the	communication/referral
	and how is it delivered?	practice guideline that	PCP and the treatment team kept informed?	mechanisms are in place to
		describes recommended care		identify the correct
	How often is repeat screening recommended?	for alcohol problems in primary care settings?	Do all members of the practice team understand their respective roles? Are all roles clearly defined?	providers and smooth the referral process?
	If the screening and	Has the practice guideline	,	Who makes referrals for
	assessment activities are done	been adapted for use in the	Is there a specific protocol for missed	specialty alcohol treatment
	at different times or by	particular provider setting?	appointments?	for those people with abuse or denendence? How is
	patients with a positive screen tracked so that they receive a	Who is responsible for diagnosis and treatment of	Who makes and manages appointments, follow-ups and reminders?	continuity of care assured?
	full assessment?	co-morbidities?		
			Who is responsible for supporting patient self-management?	
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
			Are identified patients seen as part of routine practice, or is the clinic organized to provide care for all or most patients during	
			an alcohol 'mini-clinic'?	
			What options are there for individual, group, or phone based counseling?	
			Are there incentives in place to increase the probability that appropriate care will be delivered?	
			Is there an approach to obtaining specialist consultation services to help providers with	

31

difficult cases?	How are continuity of care and communication assured?
ALCOHOL PROBLEMS IN PRIMARY CARE MATRIX³: ADAPTING THE CHRONIC CARE MODEL (CONTINUED)

Components Are screening procedures Collaborative Management: Are screening procedures (Patient activation roles, Cal patients choose how to Behavior change, Can patients choose how to Collaborative care Can patients choose how to planning) How can employers help wi screening? Are there posters and educational materials in the health care setting to increas patients' awareness of alcoh use disorders?	Are screening procedures			
roles,	ng procedures			
	insitive?	How do patients participate in the	What menus of self-management support are available to patients?	What links are established with AA/self help meetings
		assessment process?	-	and other support groups?
	Can patients choose how to	Do natients receive a	Are patients given written and verbal information that is consistent with the guideline?	What community
How can em screening? Are there po educational 1 health care s patients' aw use disorder	8	self-management		resources/supports are
How can em screening? Are there po educational 1 health care s patients' aw use disorder		message, which	Does the guideline specify when, what, and by	available? (e.g. family
Are there po educational 1 health care s patients' aw use disorder	How can employers help with	motivates them to take	whom?	counseling, parenting classes, relapse prevention)
Are there po educational 1 health care s patients' awe use disorder		condition at the time	What incentives are available to encourage	
health care s patients' awa use disorder	osters and materials in the	of diagnosis, and an	patients to attend brief intervention sessions or to follow through on referrals to specialty care?	Is outreach/ education conducted with families?
patients' aw use disorder	health care setting to increase	questions?		A
	patients' awareness of alcohol use disorders?		Is the collaborative care plan documented? Are patients involved in developing the plan?	Are partents encouraged to share educational materials with families, and are
			Does the collaborative care plan include short-	families encouraged to
			and long-term self-management goals?	attend Al-Anon and participate in patients'
			How is the care plan shared with patients and how are patients instructed in its use?	treatment?
			-	Are there public alcohol
			Does support for self-management address	awareness programs that
			comorpidities /	uic priniary care practice can support?
			Does support for self-management include	What links can be made to
			(e.g. specialty alcohol providers, psychiatrists,	local organizations that
			social workers) might be helpful?	provide resources for
			How are patients made aware of the follow-up	
			contact they should expect?	Are patients taught to
			Are problem solving approaches employed in	triggers for relapse, and to
			every contact with patients (e.g. readiness and	access help when heeded?
			progress toward goals cnecked, barriers identified, specific plans for achieving goals	
			discussed, plans revised based on experience?)	

33

(CONTINUED)
ARE MODEL
CHRONIC C
ADAPTING THE
IN PRIMARY CARE MATRIX ⁴ : 1
ALCOHOL PROBLEMS

Decision Support: (Cuidaling: Dravidar	What screening instrument is	Is there an evidenced-based	Is there an evidenced-based guideline for	How are existing
education. Specialist	in the population using		ucaunem unat covers both brief interventions and referral to specialty alcohol care?	and alcohol treatment
	services?	How is the guideline		programs connected to
		disseminated to providers?	Do the guidelines cover co-morbidities?	the primary care
	If universal screening is not			providers?
	feasible, is there an agreed	How is the guideline embedded	How is the guideline embedded in the	
	upon set of 'red flags' that	in the system?	system?	Are triggers for follow-
	will prompt screening?			up and the content of
		How do PCPs obtain support	How is the guideline disseminated to	follow-up contacts
		from specialists when the	providers?	clearly described in the
		diagnosis is complicated?		guidelines?
			How do PCPs and specialists interact for	1
			patients with comorbidities?	How do additional
			· · ·	providers gain access to
			Are criteria established for referral to	the shared care plan?
			specialty care?	
			How does the behavioral health specialist	
			play a role in improving the brief intervention	
			skills of the PCP?	
_			Does the treatment pulideline specify standard	
			educational messages that will be conveyed by all providers?	

Components	cicolia cicoli	Пеаниен	Continuing care
How does the Information	Is there a standardized	How does the IS keep track of identified	Does the IS remind the
System (IS) help screen and	approach to diagnosis that	patients?	clinician of available
(IS to facilitate: identifying keep track of identified	can be easily documented in		community resources?
patients?	the medical record and	Does the IS remind providers of when	,
· · · · · · · · ·	recorded in a follow-up file?	patients require follow-up contact?	Does the IS periodically
Does the system prompt for		Does the IS flag patients who fail to keep	remind the clinician of the
repeated screening at	Can the system keep track of	appointments?	need for ongoing
designated intervals?	subgroups of patients based		monitoring and assessment?
	on severity (problem	Does the IS track the completion of	1
Is there a means of	drinking, alcohol abuse or	recommended care components?	What mechanisms are in
identifying patients with a	dependence)?		place to facilitate
'red flag' condition?		Does the IS remind clinicians of	communication with
	Does the IS capture	recommended interventions that need to be	specialty providers that also
How is the confidentiality of	information on medical or	delivered and provide information on the	take into account patient
patient information assured?	psychiatric co-morbidities?	patient's current clinical status?	confidentiality?
		Does the IS track outcomes?	
		Is there a common IS that the whole team	
		(including the specialty care provider) can access?	

The matrix is adapted from work done by Michael Van Korff (personal communication for the Robert Wood Johnson Improving Chronic Illness Care National Program) for treatment of depression and asthma.

ALCOHOL PROBLEMS IN PRIMARY CARE MATRIX⁵: ADAPTING THE CHRONIC CARE MODEL (CONTINUED)

REFERENCES

- Adams WL, Barry KL, Fleming MF. Screening for Problem Drinking in Older Primary Care Patients. JAMA 1996;276(24):1964-67.
- Anderson RM, Funnell MM, Butler PM, Arnold MS, Fitzgerald JT and Feste CC. Patient Empowerment: Results of a Randomized Controlled Trial. *Diabetes Care* 1995;18(7):943-949.
- Alcohol Research and Health. Research Refines Alcoholism Treatment Options. Vol. 24, No.1, 2000.
- Anda RF, Williamson DF, Remington PL. Alcohol and fatal injuries among US adults. JAMA 1988;260:2529-32.
- Archer L, Grant BF. What if Americans drank less: the potential effect on the prevalence of alcohol abuse and dependence. *Am J Public Health* 1995;85-61-66.
- Bien TH, Miller WR, Tonigan JS. Brief Interventions for Alcohol Problems: A Review. Addiction 1993;88:315-336.
- Burg MM, Seeman TE. Families and health: the negative side of social ties. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 1994; 16: 109-115.
- CASA. Missed Opportunity: National Survey of Primary Care Physicians and Patients on Substance Abuse. Conducted by the Survey Research Laboratory, University of Illinois at Chicago, April 2000.
- CSAT (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment). Confidentiality of Patient Records for Alcohol and Other Drug Treatment, BKD156, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Technical Assistance Publication (TAP Series 13).
- CSAT (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment). Assessment and Treatment of Patients with Coexisting Mental Illness and Alcohol and Other Drug Abuse, BKD268, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP Series 9).
- CSAT (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment). The Role and Current Status of Patient Placement Criteria In the Treatment of Substance Use Disorders, BKD161, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP Series 13).
- CSAT (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment). A Guide to Substance Abuse Services for Primary Care Clinicians, BKD234, U.S. Department of Health and Human

Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP Series 24).

- CSAT (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment). Naltrexone and alcoholism treatment, BKD268, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP Series 28).
- CSAT (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment). Brief Interventions and Brief Therapies for Substance Abuse, BKD341, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP Series 34).
- CSAT (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment). Enhancing Motivation for Change in Substance Abuse Treatment, BKD342, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP Series 35).
- Clark NM, Becker MH, Janz NK, Lorig K, Rakowski W, Anderson L. Self-management of chronic disease by older adults. A review and questions for research. *Journal of Aging and Health* 1991;3:3-27.
- Fleming MF, Manwell LB. Brief Intervention in Primary Care Setting. Alcohol Research and Health 1999;23(2):128-37.
- Fleming MF, Mundt MP, French MT, Manwell LB, Stauffacher EA and Barry KL. Brief physician advice for problem drinkers: Long-term efficacy and benefit-cost analysis. Unpublished manuscript, 2001.
- Fleming MF, Mundt MP, French MT, Manwell LB, Stauffacher EA and Barry KL. Benefit-Cost analysis of brief physician advice with problem drinkers in primary care settings. *Medical Care* 38(1): 7-18 2000.
- Fleming MF. Implementation and Disseminatin of Alcohol Screening, Brief Intervention and Pharmacotherapy Procedures in the US Health Care System: Current Evidence and Research Opportunities. Draft Report, 10/2000.
- Fleming MF. Strategies to Increase Alcohol Screening in Health Care Settings. Alcohol Health & Research 1999;21(4):340-51.
- Fleming MF, Manwell LB, Barry KL, Johnston K. At-Risk Drinking in an HMO Primary Care Sample: Prevalence and Health Policy Implications. *Am J Public Health* 1998;88(1):90-93.

- Fleming MF, Barry KL, Manwell LB, Johnson K, London R. Brief physician advice for problem alcohol drinkers: a randomized controlled trial in community-based primary care practices. *JAMA* 1997;277(13):1039-1045.
- Fleming M, Manwell LB. Brief intervention in primary care settings: a primary treatment method for at-risk, problem, and dependent drinkers. *Alcohol Research and Health*, 1999; 23(2):128-137.
- Halsted H, Lorig K. Patients as partners in managing chronic disease. *BMJ* 2000;7234:541-543.
- Harwood HJ, Foundation D, Livermore G. Economic costs of alcohol abuse and alcoholism. *Recent Dev Alcohol* 1998;14:307-330.
- Institute for Health Policy, Brandeis University. Substance Abuse: the Nation's Number one Health Problem: Key Indicators for Policy. Princeton, NJ: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation; 1993.
- Institute of Medicine. Broadening the base of treatment for alcohol problems. Report of a study by a committee of the Institute of Medicine Division of Mental Health and Behavioral Medicine, 1990.
- Jaen CR, Stange KC. Making room for behavioral counseling for alcohol, tobacco and other drugs in the black box of primary care practice. Draft Paper 2/14/00.
- Lorig KR, Sobel DS, Stewart AL, Brown BW, Bandura A, Ritter P, et al. Evidence suggesting that a chronic disease self-management program can improve health status while reducing hospitalization: a randomized trial. *Med Care* 1999;37:4-14.
- Lorig KR. Self-management of chronic illness. A model for the future. *Generations* 1993;17:11-4.
- Manning WG, Keeler EB, Newhouse JP, Sloss EM, Wasserman J. The taxes of sin: Do smokers and drinkers pay their way? JAMA 1989;261:1604-1609.
- Manwell LB, Fleming MF, Johnson K, Barry KL. Tobacco, Alcohol and Drug Use in a primary care sample: 90-day prevalence and associated factors. J Addit Dis 17(1):67-81, 1998.
- McGinnis JM, Foege WH. Actual causes of death in the United States. JAMA 1993;270-2212.
- McLellan AT, Lewis DC, O'Brien CP, Kleber, HD. Drug dependence, a chronic medical illness; implications for treatment, insurance, and outcomes evaluation. *JAMA* 2000;284(13):1689-95.

- Miller, W.R., and Sanchez, V.C., Motivating yourn adults for the treatment and lifestyle change. In Howard, G., and Nathan, P.E., eds. Alcohol Use and Misuse by Young Adults. Notre Dame, IN; University of Notre Dame Press, 1994.
- Pincus HA, Zarin DA, West JC. Peering into the "black box": measuring outcomes of managed care. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996; 53:870-877.
- Mechanic D. Emerging trends in mental health policy and practice. Health Affairs 1998; 17:82-98.
- Mechanic D. Emerging trends in mental health policy and practice. Health Affairs 1998; 17:82-98.
- Metzger J, Haughton J, Smithson K. Improvement-focused information technology for the clinical office practice: a patient registry for disease management. *Managed Care Quarterly* 1999;7(3):71-78.
- National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism. The physicians guide to helping patients with alcohol problems. 1995;No. 95-3769.
- Payne T, Galvin M, Taplin S, Austin B, Savarino J, Wagner E. Practicing populationbased care in an HMO: evaluation after 18 months. *HMO Practice* 1995;9(3):101-106.
- Pincus HA, Zarin DA, West JC. Peering into the "black box": measuring outcomes of managed care. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996; 53:870-877.
- Reid MC, Fiellin DA, O'Connor PG. Hazardous and Harmful Alcohol Consumption in Primary Care. Archives of Internal Medicine 1999;159(15):1681-1689.
- Rice DP, Kelman S, Miller LS. Estimates of economic costs of alcohol and drug abuse and mental illness, 1985 and 1988. *Pub Health Rep* 1991;106:280-292.
- Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Amundsen A, Grant M. Alcohol consumption and related problems among primary health care patients: WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption. *Addiction* 1993;88:349-362.
- Sanchez-Craig M, Wilkinson DA, Davila R. Empirically based guidelines for moderate drinking: 1-year results from three studies with problem drinkers. Am J Public Health 1995;85:823-828.
- Saitz R, Mulvey KP, Plough A. Physician unawareness of serious substance abuse. American Journal of Medicine or Drug & Alcohol Abuse 1997;23(3):343-354.

- Schafer LC, McCaul KD, Glasgow RE. Supportive and non-supportive family behaviors: relationships to adherence and metabolic control in persons with Type I diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 1986; 9(2): 179-185.
- Simon GE, VonKorff M, Rutter C, Wagner E. Randomized trial of monitoring, feedback, and management of care by telephone to improve treatment of depression in primary care. *BMJ* 2000;7234:550-554.
- Sobel DS. Rethinking medicine: improving health outcomes with cost-effective psychosocial interventions. *Psychosom Med.* 1995;57:234-44.
- Tanielian TL, Pincus HA, Dietrich AJ, Williams JW, Oxman TE, Nutting P, Marcus SC. Referrals to Psychiatrists. *Psychosomatics* 2000; 41: 245-252.
- Taplin S, Galvin M, Payne T, Coole, D, Wagner EH. Putting population-based care into practice: real option or rhetoric. *The Journal of the American Board of Family Practice* 1998;11(2):116-126.
- True WR, Xian H. Common genetic vulnerability for nicotine and alcohol dependence in men. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999;56:655-661.
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Guide to Clinical Preventive Services, 2nd ed. Baltimore, MD: Williams Wilkens, 1996.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcholism. Training Physicians in Techniques for Alcohol Screening and Brief Intervention. Developed by Michael Fleming, Frances Cotter and Edna Talboy, 1997.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcholism. Effects of alcohol on health and body systems. In: Eight Special Report to the US Congress on Alcohol and Health from the Secretary of Health and Human Services, September 1993. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services. Publication ADM-281-91-0003: 165-201.
- Van Korff, Gruman J, Schaefer J, Curry SJ, Wagner EH. Collaborative Management of Chronic Illness. Annals of Internal Medicine 1997;127(12):1097-1102.
- Von Korff M, Simon G. The prevalence and impact of psychological disorders in primary care: HMO research needs to improve care. HMO Practice 1996;10(4):150-165.
- VonKorff M, Wagner EH. The role of the older person in managing illness. In: Calkins E, Boult C, Wagner EH, Pacala JT (Eds.). New Ways to Care for Older People: Building Systems Based on Evidence, 1999. Springer Publishing Company, 1999.

- Wagner EH, Austin BT, Von Korff M. Organizing Care for Patients with Chronic Illness, *The Milbank Quarterly* 1996;74(4):511-543.
- Wagner EH, Davis C, Schaefer J, Von Korff M, Austin B. A survey of leading chronic disease management programs: are they consistent with the literature? *Managed Care Quarterly* 1999;7(3):56-66.
- Wagner EH, Austin BT, Von Korff M. Improving Outcomes in Chronic Illness. Managed Care Quarterly 1996;4(2):12-25.
- Wagner EH, Davis C, Schaefer J, VonKorff M, Austin B. A survey of leading chronic disease management programs: are they consistent with the literature? *Managed Care Quarterly* 1999; 7(3): 60-70.
- Wilk AI, Jensen NM, Havighurst TC. Meta-Analysis of Randomized Control Trials Addressing brief Interventions in Heavy Alcohol Drinkers. Journal of General Internal Medicine 1997;12(5):274-283.
- Williams JG, Cheung WY, Russell IT, Cohen DR, Longo M, Lervy B. Open access follow up for inflammatory bowel disease: pragmatic randomized trial and cost effectiveness study. *BMJ* 2000;7234:544-548.
- Williams J, Rost K, Dietrich AJ, et al. Primary care physicians approach to depressive disorders. Archives of Family Medicine 1999;8:58-67.

¹ The matrix is adapted from work done by Michael Van Korff (personal communication for the Robert Wood Johnson Improving Chronic Illness Care National Program) for the treatments of depression and asthma

² The matrix is adapted from work done by Michael Van Korff (personal communication for the Robert Wood Johnson Improving Chronic Illness Care National Program) for the treatments of depression and asthma

³ The matrix is adapted from work done by Michael Van Korff (personal communication for the Robert Wood Johnson Improving Chronic Illness Care National Program) for the treatments of depression and asthma

⁴ The matrix is adapted from work done by Michael Van Korff (personal communication for the Robert Wood Johnson Improving Chronic Illness Care National Program) for the treatments of depression and asthma

⁵ The matrix is adapted from work done by Michael Van Korff (personal communication for the Robert Wood Johnson Improving Chronic Illness Care National Program) for the treatments of depression and asthma

APPENDIX A: SCREENING

Overview

Screening is a process designed to identify people who have, or who are at risk of having, a medical condition. The purpose of screening is to target persons for treatment, so as to reduce long-term morbidity and mortality related to the condition. In the case of screening for alcohol, raising the patient's level of concern about alcohol related problems, can itself reduce subsequent drinking (Scott, 1990; Chick, 1985; Daniels, 1992). Screening for alcohol problems is an important component of a comprehensive health care assessment and has been recommended by the US. Preventive Services Task Force, the American Medical Association, the American Academy of Family Physicians, the Institute of Medicine and the American Nursing Association.

There are three reasons for routine screening for alcohol related problems in primary care settings. (1) About 70% of the population visits a primary care physician at least once every two years and many of them have alcohol-related problems (2) excessive alcohol contributes to development and worsening of many serious medical conditions; and (3) effective treatments exist (CASA 2000). However, despite national recommendations to screen, recent screening studies suggest that many primary care physicians do not screen, diagnose or offer patients treatment for alcohol problems (Fleming, 1997; Friedmann, 2000). Several studies have identified multiple barriers to screening (Friedmann, 2000; Babor, 2000; Fleming, 1997). These include competing demands on clinicians' time; the stigma clinicians may associate with substance abusing patients, pessimism about treatment effectiveness, financial disincentives, perceived lack of knowledge and skills, and lack of role models and training. The way a clinic is organized can also be a barrier, and many health care settings are difficult to change.

A recent nationally representative survey of primary care physicians also identified reasons why physicians are missing or misdiagnosing patients with substance abuse (CASA, 2000). They included: Lack of adequate training Skepticism about treatment effectiveness Patient resistance Discomfort discussing substance abuse Time constraints Fear of losing patients

Lack of insurance coverage

The survey also found that nine in ten physicians failed to spot substance abuse in adults, highlighting the scope of the problem.

Selecting a Screening Instrument

Factors to consider when selecting a screening instrument include sensitivity and specificity (and how this may vary by ethnicity, age, education and gender), cost, ease and method of administration and patient/provider acceptance. Screening questionnaires can be an extremely way to identify alcohol use disorders, particularly compared to using biochemical laboratory tests.

Table 1 reviews the characteristics of the CAGE, the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) and the briefer AUDIT-C that includes only the consumption questions, the Brief Michigan Alcoholism Screening Test (BMAST), and the TWEAK, several of the most widely used screening instruments suitable for use in primary care settings. We also reviewed the characteristics of the Rapid Alcohol Problems Screen (RAPS) but did not include it because it was developed to identify individuals with alcohol problems who present to emergency room settings and has not been evaluated in primary care settings. Both the CAGE and the AUDIT have been extensively tested in primary care settings (CSAT TIP #24).

Most experts recommend that for screening in primary care, sensitivity should be emphasized over specificity (CSAT TIP #24). While the CAGE is highly specific for alcohol dependence, it is not very sensitive to problem drinking. The scoring of the AUDIT is correlated with the severity of the alcohol problem, with higher scores correlating with more severe problems. The cutoff point for a positive result can be changed for the AUDIT, increasing sensitivity at the expense of specificity. For this reason the AUDIT may be a better screening instrument for alcohol problems in primary care settings. The AUDIT-C is a shorter version of the AUDIT and is also suitable for use in primary care settings. We recommend that primary care practices that choose to do comprehensive self-administered health screening use the AUDIT. For those practices who are only going to implement screening for alcohol problems, the AUDIT-C is the screening instrument of choice.

The cost of screening will depend on who does the screening, how it is administered, (by clinician or patient, with paper and pencil or with a computer), how long it takes, how it is scored, and whether special training is required to score and administer it. Clinician-administered screening programs have been difficult to implement outside of the research setting (Weisner, 2000). Several studies suggest that computerized versions of validated screening instruments are promising (Weisner, 2000) and that patients from diverse backgrounds seem too receptive to them. Computerized screening has been tested with diverse populations (including African-American, Hispanic, and Caucasian clients), within varied socio-economic status levels, as well as among the elderly and retired. In addition, once the infrastructure is set up and the screening protocol developed, computerized screening is less resource intensive, and printed results are easier for physicians to interpret.

Computer-based screening makes it possible to embed the alcohol-specific screening questions in a comprehensive behavioral health or general medical screening program. This is advantageous because screening for alcohol problems may be more acceptable to both patients and providers if it is part of a comprehensive evaluation of health risk (Allen, 1995). A broad-based evaluation of health risk is more congruent with the overall mission of many community settings. Clinicians and patients may feel more comfortable if the questions are placed within the larger context of preventive health care, decreasing perceived stigma or bias (Babor, 1987). In addition, it is unlikely that computer-based screening for alcohol problems alone would be feasible in real life situation because providers might feel that alcohol related problems were being emphasized at the expense of other important health problems (Volk, 2000).

Who should be screened?

Although current treatment guidelines recommend that all primary care patients be screened for alcohol use disorders, in practice this may be unrealistic (CSAT TIP #24; IOM, 1990). An alternative is to target screening to those at higher risk, or to those who have co-morbid medical conditions for whom alcohol problems would be of particular concern. Targeting 'red flag' conditions or symptoms would address provider concerns about the time-consuming nature of screening and might make it more likely that any screening would occur. Once providers were routinely screening a proportion of their practice, they might be more amenable to screening the entire practice.

The problem with targeted screening is that it implicitly sanctions not screening a large proportion of patients. In addition, given the hidden nature of problem drinking, targeted screening would miss many individuals with alcohol problems. This is particularly true for individuals who are young and who may not have developed medical complications. Men, smokers, the never married, the unemployed and those who are retired are all at increased risk of an alcohol problem (Fleming, 1998). One benefit of universal screening is that it identifies problem drinking before it has physical health consequences.

We recommend that practices implement universal screening for alcohol problems. For those practices that feel unable to implement a universal screening approach, targeted screening is a reasonable first step to familiarize practices with the screening process.

Criteria for selecting 'Red Flag' conditions for alcohol screening

If a decision were made to do targeted screening, criteria for selecting patients might include the following.

Conditions or symptoms that may be linked to the use of alcohol. Some conditions (e.g. liver disease, depressive or anxiety disorders, trauma-related complaints, hemorrhagic stroke, dementia, hypertension) may be caused by excessive alcohol use. In addition, many patients present with non-specific symptoms that may be the result of undetected alcohol use (e.g. insomnia, dyspepsia). Screening patients with these conditions may increase the number of people with alcohol problems who are identified if detected; treatment may relieve the underlying cause of the symptom or condition—alcohol use.

Conditions associated with a higher rate of alcohol problems than in the general population. This criterion targets conditions such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) that are indirectly linked to alcohol use through their association with a third factor such as smoking. Screening individuals with conditions often linked with alcohol use would increase the screening "yield," potentially making screening more cost-effective.

Conditions or symptoms that are made worse by alcohol. Alcohol hastens the progress of many conditions including liver disease, diabetes and depressive and anxiety disorders. Identifying and treating individuals with co-occurring medical conditions may help with managing the co-morbid medical condition.

Conditions or symptoms whose treatment is complicated by sustained alcohol use. These include illnesses that reduce patients' compliance with treatment, or where the use of medications for treating the underlying medical disorder is complicated by alcohol use.

Conditions that are prevalent, or for which there are high social and treatment costs. These include alcohol-related illnesses that result in frequent hospitalizations. The most common of these are liver diseases (including cirrhosis, hepatitis, abscesses, coagulation defects and malignant neoplasm of the liver), pancreatic disease, varicose veins, psychiatric conditions (including drug psychoses, personality disorders, adjustment disorders and conduct disorders) poisonings (Dufour, 1993).

Based on these criteria, we propose the following potential 'red flag' conditions or markers.

Symptom or Condition	Reference	Rationale
Liver disease, including	Miller, 1999;	Alcohol can cause liver damage, and heavy
cirrhosis, hepatitis and	NLAES 1998	alcohol use is more common among people with
jaundice		liver problems than among individuals with
		minimal or moderate drinking.
Hypertension	NCHS, Series	Alcohol can both cause and exacerbate
	13 #142,	hypertension and make its treatment more
	Adams, 1996	difficult. Except for acute respiratory infections,
		hypertension is the most common outpatient
		diagnosis.
Diabetes	Burge, 1999;	Alcohol use can exacerbate control of blood
	Adams, 1996	glucose and make compliance with treatment
		regimen more difficult. Alcohol also
		exacerbates neuropathies and other
		complications of diabetes.
Trauma-related	Miller, 1999	Alcohol use is implicated in 40-50% of MVA
complaints		fatalities and 16-67% of home and job injuries
Depression		Alcohol misuse can both cause and worsen
		depression
Anxiety		Alcohol misuse can both cause and worsen
		anxiety
Dyspepsia/Gastritis/	Isaacson, 1999	Alcohol misuse can cause or worsen these
Peptic Ulcer Disease		conditions
Patients on 'high-risk'		Although most medications are metabolized by
medications		the liver and can be affected by alcohol use, this
metabolized by the		relationship is usually not clinically significant.
liver		This criterion would target medications for
		which changes in metabolism might lead to
		clinically significant problems.
Insomnia	Isaacson, 1999	Alcohol can cause insomnia, a common patient
		complaint. Patients with insomnia can self-

Table A.1: Proposed/Potential "Red Flag" Conditions or Markers

		medicate with alcohol.
Cardiomyopathy	Dufour, 1993	Alcohol can cause and worsen cardiomyopathy
Cerebrovascular		Alcohol is a risk factor for hemorrhagic stroke
Disease		
Dementia/Cognitive	Dufour, 1993	Alcohol is a risk factor for dementia and can
Impairment		worsen cognitive impairment. It can also
		complicate treatment of dementia
Pregnancy		Fetal alcohol syndrome
COPD		COPD is associated with smoking, which in turn
		is associated with alcohol use

Summary

Screening for alcohol problems is an important component of a comprehensive health care assessment. When considering which screening instrument to use in primary care settings, important factors include the sensitivity and specificity of the questions; cost, ease and method of administration; and patient/provider acceptance. While it would be ideal to screen all patients in primary care settings at regular intervals, in practice, this may be unrealistic. A reasonable alternative is to target screening approaches to those at higher risk. However, given the hidden nature of problem drinking, this approach may miss many individuals with alcohol problems. We suggest some 'red flag' conditions for a targeted screening approach.

Several screening instruments are available and are reviewed in Table A.2. Based on our review of the available literature and the recommendations of our expert panel, we recommend that primary care practices that choose to do a comprehensive self-administered health screening to use the AUDIT. If practices choose only to screen for alcohol problems, we recommend the AUDIT-C.

Table A.2: C	characteristics of Screen	ning Instruments.	······································	
Instrument	CAGE	AUDIT and AUDIT-C	BMAST	TWEAK
Characteristics				
Number of questions	4	10 (AUDIT) and 3 (AUDIT- C)	10	5
Administration time (minutes)	1	2	5	2
Scoring time (minutes)	1	1	3	1
Administration route	- can be done as a clinician- administered structured interview, or a self-administered written survey	- can be done as a clinician- administered structured interview, or a self- administered written survey.		
Positivity criterion	2	8		2 out of 7
Sensitivity and specificity	-Sensitivity of .38 in only primary care study of predominantly white women, for lifetime alcohol abuse and dependence (Bradley, 1998) -821 people participated in study at outpatient medical practice (not necessarily presenting for alcohol-related problems), 36% had hx of alcohol abuse or dependence. A score of 2 or more had sensitivity of .74 and specificity of .91, AUROC = .89 (Buchsbaum, 1991) - In community-based teaching hospital, study of 518 patients found 20% with alcohol abuse and had	For the AUDIT - In study of US primary care patients (18+ yrs of age), with cut-off of 2, using DSM-III-R criterion of alcohol abuse or dependence - sensitivity = 100% and specificity = 59%; using cutoff of 3 - sensitivity = 100% and specificity = 66% (Schmidt, 1997). - In study of US inner city general medical clinic patients (18-84 yrs of age), with cut-off of 8, using DSM-III-R criterion of alcohol abuse or dependence - sensitivity = 96% and specificity = 96% (Isaacson, 1997). - In study of US family practice clinic patients (19+ yrs of age), with cut-off of 2, using DSM-III-R criteria for lifetime and (current) diagnoses - sensitivity = 78(82)% and specificity = 25(25)%; using cutoff of 3 - sensitivity = 74(74)% and	-Studies in emergency room settings found overall sensitivity to range from 30- 78% and overall specificity to range from 80- 99% (Cherpitel, 1997).	 For identifying pregnant women consuming 2 or more drinks per day, sensitivity is 79% and specificity is 83% (Cherpitel, 1997). When used with ER patients, (using weighted cutoff of 3), sensitivity ranged from 70-90% and specificity ranged from 75-80% (Cherpitel, 1997).

 Table A.2: Characteristics of Screening Instruments.

 sensitivity of 85%	$\frac{49}{28(51)\%}$	
and specificity of	specificity = 38(51)% (Barry, 1997).	
89%. (Bush, 1987)	1997).	
8970. (Bush, 1987)	In study of your a shalles in	
	- In study of young adults in	
	US, had internal consistency	
	of .80 (w/ sensitivity = $.94$ and	
	specificity = $.66$ for alcohol	
	abuse or dependence)	
	(Fleming, 1998).	
	-In normative study –	
	sensitivity = mid90s and	
	specificity = mid70s-mid-	
	.80s for hazardous drinking,	
	intoxication and alcohol	
	dependence (Allen and Litten,	
	1998).	
	-Other studies found	
	sensitivity range of 38-94%	
	and specificity of 66-90%	
	(Cherpitel, 1997).	

Instrument	CAGE	AUDIT and AUDIT-C	BMAST	TWEAK
Instrument Characteristics Strengths	CAGE -Does well for both men and women (Bradley, 1998), and for different age and ethnicities (Allen, 1998). -Very brief -Performs better in healthcare seeking populations (where underlying motivation may be alcohol-related) than general community Allen and Litten, 1998). - Can combine use of likelihood ratios to place patients along a continuum of risk for developing alcohol abuse and dependence. (Buchsbaum, 1991)	 AUDIT and AUDIT-C -Designed to detect alcohol problems in early stages before abuse or dependence (Allen and Litten, 1998). - Works equally well with community samples and primary care samples (Allen and Litten, 1998). - Works equally well with men and women (Bradley, 1998), different age groups and different racial/ethnic groups (Allen, 1998). - High correlation coefficient of .78 between the AUDIT and CAGE in ambulatory care patients (Rigmaiden, 1997). - Studies have been able to match AUDIT scores with other indicators of "global life functioning," e.g. employability (Allen, 1997). 	BMAST -Found to be reliable in both clinical and non-clinical settings. -Results are highly correlated with the MAST results.	TWEAK -Optimal for detecting women with heavy drinking, alcohol abuse, and alcohol dependence (Bradley, 1998) - Developed with the goal of making it brief, like CAGE, but with greater sensitivity for pregnant woman and women of reproductive age.
Drawbacks/ Limitations	 Ability to detect problems is closely tied to patient's stage of awareness and openness to sharing information (Allen and Litten, 1998). Does not distinguish between current and past problems. 	 In studies of rural primary care patients, correlation between total AUDIT scores and Short MAST scores was found to be only 0.25 (Barry, 1997). study in VA medical and urgent care clinics, using cutoff of 8, "only 51% of the positives also scored positive on the BMAST and only 41% of BMAST positives were AUDIT positives (Luckie, 1997). 		

Table A.2: Characteristics of Screening Instruments. (continued)

		51		
Comments	Developed and tested on known alcoholics, predominantly white males. Highly specific for alcohol dependence, but does not distinguish between current and past drinking.	Useful to screen for the range of alcohol problems. Scoring: high scores on the first three items in the absence of elevated scores on the remaining items suggest hazardous alcohol use. Elevated scores on items 4-6 suggest alcohol dependence, and high scores on the remaining items suggest harmful alcohol use (CSAT TIP #24 pg. 122)	-Subset of the original 25-item MAST questionnaire	- Use cut point of 2 or more for women (Bradley, 1998)

REFERENCES

Allen JP, Litten RZ, Fertig JB, Babor T. A Review of Research on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 1997;21(4): 613-619.

Allen et al. (manuscript submitted for publication) in Allen and Litten 1998.

Allen JP, Litten RZ. Chapter 2: Screening Instruments and Biochemical Screening Tests. *American Society of Addiction Medicine*. 1998.

Allen JP, Maisto SA, and Connors GJ, "Self-Report Screening Tests for Alcohol Problems in Primary Care," *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 1995;155:1726-1730.

Adams WL, Barry KL, and Fleming MF, "Screening for Problem Drinking in Older Primary Care Patients," *JAMA*, 1996;276(24):1964-1967.

Babor TF and Kadden R, "Screening for Alcohol Problems: Conceptual Issues and Practical Considerations," Paper - Background paper for WHO RSA Mtg, July 1997.

Babor TF and Higgins-Biddle JC, "Alcohol Screening and Brief Intervention: Dissemination Strategies for Medical Practice and Public Health, "*Addiction*, 2000;95(5):677-686.

Barry KL, Fleming MF. The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) and the SMAST-13 predictive validity in a rural primary care sample. *Alcohol Alcohol.* 1993;28:33-42. In Allen JP, Litten RZ, Fertig JB, Babor T. A Review of Research on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research.* 1997; 21(4): 613-619.

Bradley KA, Boyd-Wickizer J, Powell SH, Burman ML. Alcohol Screening Questionnaires in Women: A Critical Review. JAMA. 1998;280:166-171.

Buchsbaum, Buchanan, Centor, Schnoll, Lawton. Screening for Alcohol Abuse Using CAGE Scores and Likelihood Ratios. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. 1991;115(10):774-777.

Burge SK and Schnieder FD, "Alcohol-related Problems: Recognition and Intervention," *American Family Physician.* 1999;59(2):361-370, 372.

Bush, Shaw, Cleary, Delbanco, Aronson. Screening for Alcohol Abuse Using the CAGE Questionnaire. *The American Journal of Medicine*. 1987;82(2):231-5.

CASA, "Missed Opportunity: National Survey of Primary Care Physicians and Patients on Substance Abuse." Conducted by the Survey Research Laboratory, University of Illinois at Chicago, April 2000. Cherpitel, CJ. Brief Screening Instruments for Alcoholism. Alcohol Health and Research World. 1997; 21(4): 348-351.

Chick J, Lloyd G, and Crobmie E, "Counseling problem Drinkers in Medical Wards: A Controlled Study, *BMJ*, 290:965-967, 1985.

CSAT (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment), "A Guide to Substance Abuse Services for Primary Care Clinicians," BKD234, U.S. *Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration*, Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP Series 24).

Daniels V, Somers M, and Orford J, "How Can Risk Drinking Amongst Medical Patients be Modified? The Effects of Computer Screening and Advice and a Self-help Manual, Behav. *Psychotherapy*, 20:47-60, 1992.

Dufour MC and Fe Caces, "Epidemiology of the Medical Consequences of Alcohol," Alcohol Health and Research World, 17(4):265-271, 1993.

Fleming, Barry and Macdonald, 1991 in Allen JP, Litten RZ. Chapter 2: Screening Instruments and Biochemical Screening Tests. *American Society of Addiction Medicine*. 1998.

Fleming MF, "Strategies to Increase Alcohol Screening in Health Care Settings," *Alcohol Health & Research World*. 1997;21(4) 340-51.

Fleming MF, Manwell LB, Barry KL and Johnson K, "At-Risk Drinking in an HMO Primary Care Sample: Prevalence and Health Policy Implications," *American Journal of Public Health*. 1998;88(1):90-93.

Friedmann PD, McCullough D, Chin MH and Saitz R, "Screening and Intervention for Alcohol Problems: A National Survey of Primary Care Physicians and Psychiatrists," *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 2000;15(2):84-91.

IOM (Institute of Medicine's) Committee for the Study of Treatment and Rehabilitation Services for Alcoholism and Alcohol Abuse, "Broadening the base of treatment for alcohol problems: report of a study by a committee of the Institute of Medicine Division of Mental Health and Behavioral Medicine, 1990.

Isaacson JH, Butler R, Zacharek M, Tzelepis A. Screening with the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) in an inner-city population. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*. 1994; 9:550-553. In Allen JP, Litten RZ, Fertig JB, Babor T. A Review of Research on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 1997; 21(4): 613-619. Isaacson JH and Schorling JB, "Screening for Alcohol Problems in Primary Care," *Medical Clinics of North America*, 1999;83(6):1547-1563.

Luckie LF, White RE, Miller WR, Icenogle MV, Lasoski MC. Prevalence estimates of alcohol problems in a Weterans Administration outpatient population: AUDIT vs. MAST. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*. 1995; 51:422-425. In Allen JP, Litten RZ, Fertig JB, Babor T. A Review of Research on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 1997; 21(4): 613-619.

Miller NS, "Mortality Risks in Alcoholism and Effects of Abstinence and Addiction Treatment," *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 1999;22(2):371-383.

NCHS (National Center for Health Statistics), National Ambulatory Medical care Survey: 1995-96 Summary, Vital and Health Statistics, Series 13, No. 142, November 1999.

NLAES (National Longitudinal Alcohol Epidemiologic Survey), Drinking in the United States: Main Findings form the 1992 NLAES, U.S. Alcohol Epidemiologic Data Reference Manual, Vol. 6, First Edition, November 1998.

Rigmaiden RS, Pistorello J, Johnson J, Mar D, Veach TL. Addiction medicine in ambulatory care: Prevalence patterns in internal medicine. *Substance Abuse*. 1995;16:49-57. In Allen JP, Litten RZ, Fertig JB, Babor T. A Review of Research on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 1997; 21(4): 613-619.

Schmidt A, Barry KL, Fleming MF. Detection of problem drinkers: The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). *Southern Medical Journal*. 1995;88:52-59. In Allen JP, Litten RZ, Fertig JB, Babor T. A Review of Research on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT). *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*. 1997; 21(4): 613-619.

Scott E, Anderson P, "Randomized Controlled Trial of General Practitioner Interventions in Women with Excessive Alcohol Consumption, *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 1990;10:313-324.

Volk, R. Personal communication via telephone, dated August 17, 2000.

Weisner, C. Personal communication via telephone, dated August 16, 2000.

54

MR-1491-SAMHSA

